Public Document Pack

CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING AND SAFER COMMUNITIES
AGENDA
DATE:

Tuesday, 2 August 2022

VENUE:

Meeting Room - Civic Centre

TIME: 2.15 pm

MEMBERSHIP:
Councillor Mike Chambers, MBE (Cabinet Member for Housing
and Safer Communities)
EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
1.

Pilot Scheme Knife Bin:
The Community Safety Officer and the North Yorkshire Police
Officers to submit a joint written report.

3 - 38

2.

CCTV Annual Report:
The Community Safety and CCTV Manager to submit a
written report.

39 - 68

3.

Harrogate District Street Aid Update:
The Community Safety Officer to submit a written report.

69 - 118

4.

Update Of Sandbag Policy:
The Emergency Planning Manager to submit a written report.

119 - 126

5.

Development of Land at 28 Pannal Green, Harrogate:
The Housing Growth Manager to submit a written report.

127 - 140

MATTER FOR DISCUSSION (PAPERS NOT AVAILABLE TO THE
PUBLIC)
6.

Housing Investment Programme 2022/23 Monitoring

141 - 146

Legal and Governance | Harrogate Borough Council | PO Box 787 | Harrogate | HG1 9RW
01423 500600 www.harrogate.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1

Agenda Item No.
REPORT TO:

Cabinet Member Housing & Safer Communities

DATE:

2nd August 2022

SERVICE AREA:

Safer Communities

REPORTING OFFICERS:

HBC Community Safety Officer:
Helen Richardson
North Yorkshire Police:
Inspector Dave Barf
North Yorkshire Police:
Sergeant Andy Graham

SUBJECT:

A 12 month pilot scheme to place a secure knife
bin on Harrogate Borough Council (HBC) land to
facilitate and complement North Yorkshire Police
(NYP) operations and amnesties.

WARD/S AFFECTED:

[Ward]High

FORWARD PLAN REF:

Key Decision No. or N/A

Harrogate

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To seek endorsement from the Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer
Communities to position a knife bin on HBC land for an initial pilot period of
12 months.

1.2

To outline and highlight a multi-agency approach encouraging safe disposal
of blades and reduce the associated risk of knives/blades in the Harrogate
district.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION/S

2.1

The Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer Communities supports the 12
month pilot project for the location of a knife amnesty bin on Dragon Road
Car Park which is HBC land.

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASON/S FOR DECISION/S

3.1

To reduce the availability of knives and support tackling the issue of knife
crime in the district by placing a secure knife amnesty bin which is accessible
at all times. NYP are to meet in full the cost of the provision and there are no
initial or ongoing financial implications for HBC.

Page 3

1

3.2

The Council is a named Responsible Authority under the Crime & Disorder
Act 1998. This report demonstrates how as an agency they contribute to
meeting their statutory duties under the Act.

3.3

A Community Safety Hub Priority is to consider early intervention and
prevention approaches in the Harrogate district.

3.4

HBC Corporate Plan 2018-24 includes taking responsibility and working
together with agencies.

3.5

NYP undertake a week of action with Operation Disarm which has shown
there is a need for a permanent facility to safely dispose of knives.

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTION/S CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION

4.1

To not accept or endorse having a knife bin on HBC land in the Harrogate
district. This is recommended for rejection as the purpose of the knife
amnesty bin is to enable access at all times, which placing on HBC land
facilitates. HBC work in partnership with NYP and this would facilitate an
accessible knife amnesty bin at all times to complement NYP knife amnesty
weeks.

5.0

BACKGROUND INFORMATION:

5.1

Nationally knife crime is increasing. Police forces hold week-long campaigns
for knife amnesties which have proven successful in having many knives
handed in.

5.2

Operation Sceptre is a coordinated week of activity where police forces
across the country help keep knives off the streets and deter people from
carrying them. Through information and intelligence police forces proactively
target knife related offences.

5.2.1

As part of the week long campaign NYP ask the public to dispose of any
unwanted knives in their knife amnesty bins, which are in a number of stations
across the county:
📍 York
📍 Scarborough
📍 Malton
📍 Harrogate
📍 Skipton
📍 Northallerton
📍 Richmond

5.3

There is an increasing need for an all year round facility to enable people to
safely, and anonymously, discard any knives/weapons found, not just during
police campaigns at police stations.

5.4

Whilst NYP participate in knife amnesty weeks, there is currently no
permanent provision for a knife bin across North Yorkshire.

Page 4

2

5.5

There has been an 80% rise in North Yorkshire reported knife incidents in
2021 compared with 2020. (NYP statistics) This rise can be linked with
complex social trends, a more violent society with a disregard for
consequences, peer pressure and gang culture, County Lines and cross
border criminals moving into the area.

5.6

In the Harrogate District there were over 2700 recorded incidents where a
knife or bladed article was involved, or mentioned, between 01/01/2020 –
June 2022.
There were also 176 intelligence reports in relation to knives or bladed articles
in the same period (NYP statistics).
This accounts for 53% of reported knife related incidents out of the whole
command area, which includes Craven, Harrogate, Hambleton and
Richmondshire, and is why Harrogate was chosen for the pilot.

5.7

It has been well reported in local and national media that knife related
incidents, and sadly deaths, are on the increase. Many of these are related
to gang culture and County Lines drugs trade, primarily impacting on the lives
of young people but also their families and the wider local community.
Some links to knife related incidents locally:
https://www.harrogateadvertiser.co.uk/news/crime/man-who-whipped-out-murderous-machete-inwetherby-service-station-in-front-of-terrified-young-burger-king-worker-jailed-for-22-months3703276?fbclid=IwAR0CKhKpv8VL6YR76L09c1LTDWWSl-i-8hk_dvERmQdcPUCW1g5Bsuo6fs
Knaresborough teen had knife in Harrogate's Mojo bar - The Stray Ferret
Knife and class-A drugs seized by police in Harrogate | The Northern Echo
Man arrested on Harrogate street after reports he threatened neighbours with a knife | Yorkshire Post
Nine arrested and 'cuckooing' teens held in Harrogate following four-day police operation YorkshireLive (examinerlive.co.uk)
https://thestrayferret.co.uk/man-arrested-after-police-seize-sword-knives-and-drugs-in-harrogate/

5.8

The vast majority of police intelligence submissions are in relation to young
people carrying knives for protection from other young people with whom they
are ‘feuding’, to protect themselves from being attacked whilst carrying drugs
and also to ‘tax’ known drug dealers or those in debt to drug dealers.

5.9

Knife carrying has resulted in incidents where weapons have been used to
injure.

5.10

Examples of Knife Incidents in the Harrogate District:
Date
Jan 2020
April 2020
March 2021
October 2021

Details
A male sustained life changing injuries in an attack
near the Victoria shopping Centre
A knife found concealed in Library Gardens Harrogate
Murder due to multiple stab wounds in Mayfield Grove
Harrogate
3 young people pulled a knife on a milk man in
Knaresborough

Page 5

3

November 2021
December 2021
January 2022
February 2022

March 2022
April 2022
May 2022
June 2022

12 arrests/incidents of note re knives, 3 knife related
intelligence reports and 1 young person intervention
Murder due to stabbing Mayfield Grove Harrogate
19 arrests/incidents of note re knives, 3 knife related
intelligence reports
Arrest of man with 10 knives and a sword Skipton Road
Harrogate plus 4 other incidents/arrests involving
knives.
11 arrests/incidents of note re knives
7 arrests/incidents of note re knives
9 arrests/incidents re knives
4 arrests/incidents of note re knives, plus 2 incidents of
severe injury and charges of attempted murder.

5.11

Details of NYP knife incidents for Jan 2021-June 2022 are listed in Appendix
A – names, addresses, incident numbers and officer details have been
redacted.

5.12

Appendix B shows an example of knives handed into Harrogate district police
stations in 2022 supporting there is a need for a bin.

5.13

There are currently no permanent knife amnesty bins in the Harrogate district,
or North Yorkshire. NYP have amnesty bins at certain stations during their
amnesty weeks of action, approximately 4 per year, and people can hand in
knives at police stations for destruction.

6.0

THE PROPOSAL:

6.1

The main aim of the bin is to provide a safe deposit for knives all year round
in the Harrogate district. The amnesty facility will allow unwanted or found
knives and other prohibited offensive weapons, for example found or
confiscated by parents from their children who do not want to directly hand
them to the police, can be deposited in the bin. Every knife deposited in the
bin is one less that could cause injury to others, early prevention is key.

6.2

There will also be a number of habitual knife carriers who, with an ongoing
media and educational campaign, may well surrender weapons.

6.3

It is proposed to place 1 knife/article amnesty bin in HBC Dragon Road Car
Park Harrogate for the pilot period.

6.4

This project will be a pilot scheme for 12 months in the Harrogate district.
NYP aim is to rollout the bins across the entire force area subject to their
evaluation of the pilot project.

6.5

The proposed pilot location is land owned by HBC. It was chosen as can be
accessed at all times and is in a fairly central location. There are other
recycling bins at this location.

6.6

A knife amnesty bin (See Appendix C for photo) will be branded with added
relevant livery. The Wybone Knife Amnesty Bin is an example of the proposed
bin. It is manufactured from strong and durable, premium galvanised steel.

Page 6

4

The 2mm hot dipped galvanised steel ensures a secure manufacture and
makes the bin difficult to damage.
6.7

The Wybone Knife Amnesty Bin is manufactured with universal, anti-vandal
padlock hasps to the door of the unit. This is so that a secure padlock can be
fitted to the bin with no unwanted access. This system prevents break-ins
using bolt croppers and the stainless steel rod hinges have five point welded
tie sections and an anti-crowbar return to prevent unwanted access.

6.8

An internal baffle system and one way chute prevents anyone from removing
items once inside.

6.9

Once an item is surrendered and deposited inside, it cannot be retrieved
without secure access to the chosen method of locking. Internal steel panels
(baffle system) ensure the items fall securely into the waiting galvanised steel
liner.

6.10

The internal liner is fitted with a handle to the front, to make emptying easy
and convenient, whilst ensuring no need to touch the contents.
A sloping top is built in to the design of this unit to prevent anti-social
behaviours such as sitting or standing on the top of the unit or any unwanted
items, such as litter, being left on the lid.

6.11

The Wybone Knife Amnesty Bin comes as standard with pre-drilled holes for
ground fixing. Bolts will be used to fix it to the ground. HBC have given
permission for this to be done and is included in the Memorandum of
Understanding (MoU) (Appendix H)

6.12

This bin is used by police forces nationwide. In preparation of this report the
NYP Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) was consulted and his comments
are noted in Appendix D.

7.0

NYP RESPONSIBILITY:

7.1

The day to day management of the knife amnesty bin, including clear
protocols and risk assessments, will be the responsibility of NYP including
regular site inspection, emptying, health and safety, PPE and disposal of
contents.

7.2

Police staff will require initial H&S training and PPE – this will be funded by
NYP.

7.3

The knives will be disposed of as per existing police policies for surrendered
weapons. (See Appendix E)

8.0

FUNDING:

8.1

NYP will fund the bin and arrange for it to be installed. There are no costs to
HBC, who have given staff time in kind.

9.0

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT:

9.1

Joint HBC and NYP engagement has taken place in regards to the location
of a knife amnesty bin:

Page 7

5

9.2

Asda were contacted regarding the proposal to position a bin in the adjacent
car park to their land with the other recycling bins. They are fully supportive
and will ask their security to include this in daily inspections. Asda no longer
sell single knives and have a policy of questioning anyone who buys a pack
of knives after 10pm or appears under the influence of alcohol/drugs.

9.3

KD Carpets and The Rink were visited as neighbouring businesses – both
were supportive to the pilot scheme.

9.4

Residents in nearby streets were visited regarding the proposal. This was
done jointly between HBC and NYP officers. Those spoken to were positive
to the project, letters were left at properties where no one was in.

9.5

The other recycle bin providers were contacted regarding the possibility that
knives may be put into their bins – this is a risk they already have regarding
other items eg needles.

9.6

HBC Planning were consulted and shared that whilst the land is part of the
Local Plan there are no plans for development in the next year. They also
confirmed that no planning permission is needed for the bin to be fixed to the
ground. HBC Estates team are happy for the bin to be fixed to the ground
with wording in the MoU for the area to be made good when/if the bin is
removed.

10.0

COMMUNICATIONS PLAN

10.1

A joint media campaign is to be planned with HBC and NYP with regular
feedback to community.

11.0.

REPORTING AND REVIEW

11.1

NYP will be responsible for producing Quarterly statistics during the pilot
period. This will assist to establish whether the project can be extended.
A number of KPIs will be agreed and reported on a regular basis to the
Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities.

11.2

It is proposed to review the knife bin in 9 months post installation and reported
to the Cabinet Member for a decision on whether to continue with the knife
bin on HBC land.

12.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS:

12.1

The following were considered:

12.2

Financial Implications:
The cost and installation of the bin will be met by NYP.
HBC staff time has been given in kind.

12.3

Human Resources Implications:
There are no implications for this report – no HBC staff will be involved in the
emptying of the bins. As per the operational procedures NYP are responsible
for the day to day management of the bin.

Page 8

6

12.4

Legal Implications:
HBC Liability Insurers have confirmed they are happy with the arrangements
of the knife bin on HBC land.
The Legal Team were consulted and have provided information and advice
throughout development of the project.

12.5

ICT Implications:
There are no ICT implications associated with this report.

12.6

Strategic Property/Asset Management Considerations:
The knife amnesty bin is not an asset of HBC, it remains under the ownership
of NYP.

12.7

Risk Assessment:
A risk assessment has been discussed – please see Appendix F. The day to
day risk assessment is the responsibility of NYP.

12.8

Equality and Diversity (the Public Sector Equality Duty and impact upon
people with protected characteristics).
This is a report for information. The relevant assessments would form part of
any agreed delivery, activity of project only. The bin is an accessible to all
location.

12.9

Planning implications
Planning were consulted regarding the Local Plan and whether permission
was needed to fix the bin to the ground. Whilst the car park is part of the Local
Plan there are no plans during the pilot phase for this land to be built on. They
confirmed that permission is not needed to fix the bin to the ground. (Appendix
G)

13.0

CONCLUSIONS

13.1

It has been identified that knife crime is an increasing issue nationally and
early intervention and prevention is key. Harrogate District Community Safety
Hub and NYP work closely together to respond to community safety issues
that affect individuals and communities.

13.2

This 12 month pilot project will aim to provide an accessible location for
people to responsibly and safely dispose of knives and associated items at
all times, not just during police operations and amnesty weeks.

13.3

Regular reporting during the pilot phase will be provided to determine whether
the project is viable for further roll-out by NYP.

13.4

Regular communication and awareness-raising will take place jointly by HBC
and NYP.

Background Papers –
Appendix A - NYP logs re knife incidents-OpDisarm
Appendix B - Evidence of knives handed into a local police station 2022
Appendix C - Wybone Knife Amnesty Bin
Appendix D - NYP-DOCO Response

Page 9

7

Appendix E - NYP Knife Bin Procedure
Appendix F - HBC Risk Assessment
Appendix G - HBC Planning Permission Letter
Appendix H – Memorandum of Understanding

OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact Helen Richardson, Community Safety Officer, if you
require any further information on the contents of this report. The officer can be contacted
via: Safer Communities, PO Box 787, Harrogate, HG1 9RW
Telephone: 01423-500600 ext 58131 or by e-mail: helen.richardson@harrogate.gov,uk

Page 10

8

OPERATION DISARM, DIVAN, SCEPTRE
Harrogate

XXXXX OP

DIVAN

Redacted
Name (16)
XX/XX/2005
Redacted
address

On 02/01/21 XXXX has
been detained and
searched for unrelated
matters and has been
found in possession of a
large knife inside his
rucksack.

To be
allocated at
the DMM for
an OP
DIVAN.

XXXX's parents informed
and will continue to
monitor him.
XXXX was cautioned in
2018 for carrying a knife.

Harrogate

Harrogate

XXXXX Op

Divan

XXXX (11)
XX/XX/2010
Address
Redacted

RP reports that XXXX
has threatened to stab
her son after an
argument, and that he
has been physically
Name
violent before. XXXX
redacted (12) and XXXX are in the
XX/XX/2009
same class at Redacted
Address
School.
redacted

XXXXX Domvio Name

redacted
(25)
XX/XX/1996
Name
redacted
(26)
XX/XX/1996
Both
of address

SNSD
RP asked for a
visit on the
17/01/22 after
2000hrs but no
officers were
available.
Contact to be
made today.

XXXX reports that her expartner XXXX grabbed her by
the throat on 17/01/22 at
approx. 2045hrs, punched
her and took her phone.
XXXX states XXXX has
previously tried to strangle
her and threatened her with
a Stanley knife. Graded highrisk. Suspect still to be
located and arrested.

OIC - XXX

26/01/22: Incident
XXXXX: XXXX has two
knives that are hidden under
his bed at his address of
redacted. They are really big
knives given to him by his
brother who is a butcher.
They are for stabbing
intruders. (1CP)

To be
allocated
for an OP
DIVAN

Handover
attached.

redacted

Harrogate

XXXXX OP

DIVAN

Name
redacted
(14)
XX/XX/2007
Address
redacted

Page 11

Harrogate

XXXXX Mal-

Name
redacted (26)
XX/XX/1995
Address
redacted

comms

Name
redacted (21)
XX/XX/2000
Address
redacted

Harrogate

XXXXX Hate Name

redacted
(31)
XX.XX.90
Address
redacted

FOR REVIEW
XXXX reports her husband is
having an affair with XXXX. On
25/01/22, XXXX called from the
husband’s phone to make fun of
her and said she would come to
XXXX’ house “break her nose, fix
it, re-break it and slash her
throat”. XXXX has a newborn baby
at home and is very worried.

Diary Appt
– 26/01/22
2015hrs

XXXX reported being threatened by a
knife in the redacted takeaway on
Redacted Road after he argued with
them saying he "didn't like people like
him coming over and having it easy for
nothing". XXXX made further racial
comments when reporting the incident
and when officers attended - "If they
didn't make such good curry I'd rip their
heads off.' XXXX admitted to not seeing
a knife.

OIC
XXX

The XXXX takeaway do not want to
make a complaint at this time as XXXX
is a regular.

Harrogate

XXXXX Aggravated
Burglary

Address
redacted

30.01.22 approx. 2205hrs - RP
reports burglary in progress. 5
hooded males broke in via a rear
door whilst a woman and her
children were home. Large
amounts of cash and jewellery
were taken along with car keys,
but the vehicle was left. Males
were armed with a knife, bats and
bars, and possibly a gun.

OIC
- DC
XX

The offenders were seen with a
van and black vehicle. One of
these vehicles was found
abandoned in Address Redacted.
Offenders are believed to have
fled through the Yorkshire show
ground but a search did not locate
them.

Harrogate

XXXXX Divan Name

redacted,
23/XX/07

Page 12

Report from Redacted High School
OIC
that XXXX had produced a knife from XX
his bag whilst in school and had
waved it around like a pirate towards

(14), Address
redacted
Name
redacted,
XX/XX/07
(14), Address
redacted

XXXX. School have seized the knife
which appears to be a paring kitchen
knife
PCSO XX will collect the knife
10/02/21

Harrogate

INXXXX Domvio

08.02.22 – male reports that his girlfriend slashed
his hand with a blade 3 weeks ago; he stated he
was scared as she kept pushing and slapping him,
putting her hands on his throat.

Harrogate

INXXXX Assault

06.02.22 approx. 1930-2000hrs - RP reports that
her son was headbutted by *** outside Harrogate
XXXX; *** then pinned *** to a wall and held a
knife to his face, threatening to stab him.
*** has not attended hospital and is refusing to
engage with police..

Harrogate

INXXXX Knife

Harrogate

INXXXX Assault/

crime

order
Breach

Between 2200 hrs and 2359 hrs 09/03/22 victim has been
walking home and has been attacked by unknown
offender with a knife. Victim has tried to grab the knife off
the offender which has slashed his hand requiring medical
treatment at hospital

27/03/22 0549 hrs - *** reports her partner ***
has taken her to XXXX, assaulted her and left
the room. On the phone *** can be heard
screaming at *** not to come near her and says
he has a knife.
By the time police attended, suspect had made
off on foot and left the knife. Assault confirmed.
*** is in custody at time of writing.

Harrogate

INXXXX OP

DIVAN

INXXXX:On 120422 at 2230hrs ***
was carrying a large carving knife
in the park near XXX XXX,
HARROGATE. *** was carrying the
knife as protection, as was
expecting to be attacked that
night. (2AP)

Page 13

To be allocated
for OP DIVAN/
Safeguarding
visit.

Harrogate

INXXXX Sexual

1546hrs 15/04/22 - RP calls 999 stating friend has
been sexually assaulted in the park by ***,
Harrogate by an unknown suspect who has then
produced a flick knife when two of friends have
tried to intervene. Victim is taken to home address
by police.

Harrogate

INXXXX Assault /

RP reports stepson *** is being bullied in and out of
school by ***. *** was recently shoved down and
hit on the back in Sainsbury's, after which, his
mother confronted the youths.

Offence

Threat

On 29.04.22, *** has shouted at *** that he would
come to his address with a machete. *** has heard
before that *** carries a knife and is terrified to
leave the house.

Harrogate

INXXXX Weapons

Harrogate

INXXXX Divan

Harrogate

INXXXX OP

10.06.22 - intel received that *** conceals a
small blade between phone and phone case.
(1AP)

09/02/22 Report from XXXX School that *** had
produced a knife from bag whilst in school and had
waved it around like a pirate towards ***. School
have seized the knife which appears to be a paring
kitchen knife

04/03/22 XXXX School report *** has brought a
knife into school.

DIVAN

Officers attend and have seized the knife.
OP DIVAN to be arranged.

Harrogate

INXXXX racially

aggravated
S.5 / possess
bladed
weapon /

02:25hrs 05/03/22 - initial call from was
concern for *** in the street. Officers attend
and locate *** outside *** home address
shouting up to the window. *** discloses is
having recurring racial abuse from *** constantly
calling him a “N****.” *** was warned on several
occasions by PC *** to stop using racist
language. *** stated “I HATE THE B*****”. Whilst
*** was speaking with *** he produced a 9 inch
kitchen knife in his right hand. *** kept referring to
*** as a n***** and at 02:35 hours, *** arrested
him for possession of a bladed article and racially
aggravated section 5

Page 14

Harrogate

Harrogate D

Harrogate

INXXXX Knife

crime

08/03/22 Third party report from school that ***
and friends were 'out playing' when they walked past
two boys. One wearing a balaclava, one wearing a
mask. The two unknown boys made 'comments' as
they walked past and in response *** said "come on
then" and then one of the boys grabbed *** by the
collar and put a knife up to his throat (nfd).

INXXXX Weapons Racial
Offence Wanted
nominal

INXXXX Violence

Report at 0822 hours 19/03/2022 that ***
has been staying at ***, Harrogate with ***
for the last 10 days or so. *** has woken
up to find *** with a knife and spanner,
threatening to stab him if *** didn't give
*** his prescribed drugs.
*** has left the address. Officers attend,
knife and spanner seized. Safeguarding
arranged.
*** located and arrested.

RP reports two youths were on the petrol station
forecourt smoking. RP asked them to leave to
which *** stated he would set her hair on fire and
'stab her in the arse'. *** then lifted up his top
and showed RP a knife in his waistband. RP's
colleagues pressed the panic button and runoff.
Officers later located the pair who had a balaclava
and snood in their possession which matched the
CCTV. Both arrested.

Harrogate

INXXXX Op

DIVAN

Intel graded 1BP:

*** used to carry knives but no longer does as he has
sold them (nfd). *** has a SnapChat video on his
phone of a knife *** used to own.
A family member has confirmed that *** no longer
has these knives in his possession. But it is unknown
as to when and to who he sold these knives to and
their current whereabouts.

Harrogate

INXXXX Violence

Harrogate

INXXXX Threats

On the morning of the 24032022 victim has received
threatening email via the schools email from a known male
offender asking if the school is racist and that he is
intending and going to the school to stab everyone.

On 29.03.22, *** made threats via Snapchat to
stab ***, so *** stayed off school. This is the
second time this month *** has made threats like

Page 15

this (first was 10.03.22 against another student,
previously reported to police) and his school have
started to use metal detector wands.
*** has flags for officer safety - "may be in
possession of a knife". We are attempting to book
an appointment, but *** is likely to refuse
interaction with police.

Harrogate

INXXXX Threats

07/04/22 Report from XXXX school that *** - who
attends another school - has threatened to wait for
*** at XXXX sports centre and stab him. *** has
previously been seen at the sports centre and ***
is leaving school early every day in fear. *** used
to be in a relationship with *** sister.
This is the 3rd or 4th report of *** making threats
to stab different pupils. He has flags for possession
of a knuckleduster and knife.

Harrogate

INXXXX possess a
knife /
possess
Class B
drugs

Harrogate

INXXXX possess

Harrogate

INXXXX Threat/

smell of cannabis and as the officers alight their vehicle
*** flicks a cannabis joint onto the floor in front of the
Police vehicle. On suspicion a drug exchange was
about to take place the group were searched. In ***
right jacket pocket a long dark brown handled steak
knife with a 5 inch blade was located. *** claimed to
work at the restaurant next door and claimed to have
had it in the back of his pocket and forgotten about it.
He had clearly made no effort to return the knife to the
restaurant.

knife /
possible
Ukraine Russian
tension

Assault

23:25hrs 09/04/22 EXPEDITE officers patrolling
XXX on to XXX - locations of significant amount of
drug related activity since the return of night time
economy in recent weeks. There was a strong

Approx 00:04hrs 10/04/22 staff from XXX call
Police to say that they had a male detained
who had been found in possession of a
knife. Security staff had searched the male due
to him acting suspiciously in the club. Inside
his rear back trouser pocket the security guard
found a flick knife. The blade was retracted.
During interview *** stated two weeks ago he
was threatened because he speaks Russian, his
friends suggested that if he carried a knife and
if threatened no one would touch him or hurt
him if he showed them the knife.

18.04.22 - report that *** was outside her mother's
home , putting her children in the car, when her expartner *** cycled over, threw down his bike, and
pulled out a knife. *** demanded to speak to ***

Page 16

whilst waving the knife in front of *** and
threatening to kill her. ***. *** was arrested and is
in custody at time of writing (0712 hrs)

Harrogate DHM

INXXXX Threats
to Kill
Police

Call at 1744 27/04/2022 by ***
threatening to kill Police or
anyone who attends the
address. Concerns as mother
and another person are at the
address with him. He further
stated he was wearing a stab
vest and holding a machete.

armour
seized
and
booked
into
Ripon
Store.

Local units attend, keep obs, FSU
deployed and authorised. ***
surrendered without incident
after negotiations.

Harrogate

INXXXX Weapons

Intel received that XXX *** is trying to source a
flick knife.
*** has WMs for violence, including against
officers.

Harrogate

INXXXX COT -

Call received 12/05/22 0915hrs that 5 males with
machetes had approached the door of *** at 0010 hrs
and tried to get the occupant *** to leave. One of them
said “I’m going to load up the shooter” and threats to kill
were made; firearms were not seen. All offenders had
their faces covered, but RP identified the voices of ***
and ***. A discussion ensued and the males left. No-one
was injured. This was recorded on camera.

Harrogate

INXXXX Violence

22/05/22 2305hrs - report that *** had been
stabbed in the hand with a kitchen knife by his
brother's friend *** after *** had argued with and
punched ***.

Harrogate

INXXXX Divan

Harrogate

INXXXX Threat

Threat
to Life

*** reports that *** has threatened to 'stab him up'
and that he has previously seen photos of *** with
knives.
Officers have attended *** home address, mother
was aware of the knife and has disposed of it. Words
of advice passed

RP reports that her daughter *** went to the Park
off *** with a friend, ***, to meet another friend
on the 27.05.22. The friend they were due to meet

Page 17

didn't show up, however, at approx. 1915hrs they
were approached by a gang of 7 youths, mixed
male and female, who asked if they lived there.
When *** and *** said no, the gang told them
they shouldn't be there. *** was hurt in the face
and kicked, whilst a knife was pulled on ***. ***
and *** then fled.

Harrogate

INXXXX

Op
Disarm

27/05/22 - "Last week *** approached a girl
and two males in Harrogate town centre and
pulled out a knife. *** did this to threaten the
two males, to move them on from the area.
The males left and nothing further
happened." (1CP)
No victim details given. added to tactical doc
for OP Disarm.

Harrogate

INXXXX COT -

03/06/22 2143 hrs - RP reports an 18yo male
waving around a flick knife and making threats to
stab people on *** in Ripon. ARVs towards,
authority granted and tactics briefed. Suspect ***
located and arrested; knife was not found.

Harrogate

INXXXX OP

Intel received:
INXXXX: Some young teenagers in Ripon are
carrying knives around. This includes *** who
routinely posts TikTok clips on his account ***,
including footage of a knife and anti-social use of
motorcycles and cars. He also posts footage of
Police activity in Ripon (1CP)

Harrogate

INXXXX Attempt

01:01hrs-Ambulance report attending a stabbing at a
residential address in Ripon. Local and ARV’s towards.
Info suggests female may have stabbed a male. Authority
to arm and tactics briefed. Taser officers who are first on
scene detain a female and is arrested. A further female is
located upstairs with blood on her who is also arrested.
Victim to *** with stab a wound to the abdomen.

Harrogate

INXXXX COT -

15.06.22 1041hrs - *** reports that he has been
clearing out the 4th floor of a property and feeding
rubbish down the fire escape when a male shouted
at him to unblock the path. When *** said he would
do so in a few minutes, *** has drawn a knife and
made threats to stab the RP.

Threat

DIVAN

Murder

Affray

Page 18

Harrogate

INXXXX OP

Harrogate

INXXXX SMV

DIVAN

Robbery

*** has recently sustained a hand injury fighting.
There are concerns that he, or his associates, are
carrying knives. (1CP)

07.02.22 1936hrs - RP is *** from XXX, staying at
XXX in Harrogate. He reports hearing his car
alarm; a man threatened to stab him if he tried to
prevent him taking his car. Suspect has driven off
in the white Ford Focus *** without keys.

Harrogate D

INXXXX Robbery

Report at 1517 hours 18/03/2022 that Police
Officer had been made aware of a robbery at
the above shop. Male in possession of a bladed
article had waited until only he and the shop
assistant was in the premises then threatened
them with a knife and stolen around £300 in
cash from the till. Male had a mask on. He
then left the shop.

Harrogate D

INXXXX Male with

Report at 2238 08/05/2022 that a male from
an address on ***, Harrogate has approached
another resident with a machete, brandished it
at the RP and then made off. RP believed the
offender had come from a nearby address RP
described as a crack den.

- Knife

machete

January 2022:


Arrests / Incidents of note

13 Knife related incidents / Divan Reports on the County Command DMM for the month of
January 2022
XXX-Rape, Breach of DVPO, Sec.18 wounding
XXX Mal-comms Harassment threats to slash throat of RP
XXX High Risk Dom Vio Threats with Stanley Knife, Physical Assault
XXX Affray, Threats to neighbour with large kitchen knife
XXX Taser deployment on suicidal male later search discovers lock knife in rucksack
XXX Hate Crime, threats with a knife to Asian takeaway staff
XXX Aggravated Burglary Harrogate Cash and Jewellery taken by 5 males armed with Knives, bats,
bars and possibly a gun.


Divan interventions

5 Intelligence and other reports for the County Command all allocated from the DMM

Page 19

2 Ham- Rich, 3 Harrogate.
Allocated to School Liaison officers to progress interventions.
Youth intervention work OP Disarm. 3 Individual Divan interventions. Presentations to 3 schools to
a total of 21 young people. The SLO has been on leave for some of the reporting period.


Intel feeds re Disarm

1 County Command. Only 13 recorded force wide for January 11 of which were Scarborough
Command, 1 at York. As reported previously there may well be a recording issue in that officers are
not flagging searches and intel as Op Disarm related.


Stop searches

0 a search for stop checks for Op Disarm County Command. 0 searches for the whole force area
again possibly a recording issue.


Arrests

6 for Affray, Bladed / Offensive Weapon Possession Offences, Robbery, Assault

November 2021:


Arrests / Incidents of note – 4:

XXX vehicle containing a female and 2 males attacked by unknown persons with hammers and a
knife.
XXX Male attacked with a knife and screwdriver in Boroughbridge. Refused to cooperate with police,
released from hospital with superficial injuries.
XXX male attacks ex partners new boyfriend breaking jaw and threatening to stab him.
XXX Female followed from home address by suspected WY OCG waving a large machete and axe.
Female abandons car and flees over fields to safety of home address.


Divan interventions

1 INXXX
Youth intervention work OP Disarm / Divan 12 presentations to a number of schools to a total of 120
young people


Intel feeds re Disarm

3 Harrogate and Craven
INXXX picture on phone of male in combats holding a knife.
INXXX Young person takes cross bow into school.
IN1XXX 3 males make threats to attend a rival’s address and stab him.


Stop searches

0 a search for stop checks for Op Disarm only reported 1 search for the whole force area.


Arrests

8 for affray and bladed / offensive weapon possession offences

Page 20

Evidence of knives handed in to Knaresborough police 2022.

Page 21

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Our Ref:
Your Ref:
Date:

177-1-2022
21 March 2022

Helen Richardson
Harrogate Borough Council
Knapping Mount
West Grove
Harrogate
HG1 2AE
Dear Helen,
Proposal

Knife Amnesty Bin

Location

Council Car Park Dragon Road Harrogate

Using the principles of crime prevention through environmental design, I have reviewed the
proposal to place a knife amnesty bin on the council car park at Dragon Road Harrogate.
A crime analysis does not reveal any issues in the area that could have an impact upon this proposal.
I have carried out a site visit and note that there are clear sight lines that will enable a person to
make an informed choice on whether they will feel safe to approach the proposed location of the
knife amnesty bin and use it to deposit a knife. The area is also illuminated and there is CCTV
coverage.
The design of the knife amnesty bin is considered to be sufficiently robust and the draft procedure
for its safe operation appropriate.
If I can be of further assistance, do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours sincerely,

Mr Richard Ball, MPlan
Designing out Crime Officer
Richard.Ball@northyorkshire.police.uk
M: 07342 087677

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

NYP Knife Bin Procedure/Policy – Draft
Instructions:

The responsibility for the bins wherever sited will rest with the local area neighbourhood policing
team, supervised by the local area Sergeant and overall responsibility held by the area Inspector.


As the bins are not within Police buildings, checks on the bins will be deputed to staff from
the Neighbourhood Policing Team. This will be delegated out by the Sergeant on the team to
depute staff as part of their tour of duty.



Checks on the Knife Amnesty Bins will be done every day, this is to ensure that the integrity
of the bins is maintained, and they have not been subject to damage which in turn may
leave them vulnerable to theft. The following will be noted;
1. Name of Officer performing the check and at which Knife Amnesty Bin
2. Time of the check
3. Integrity of the Knife Amnesty Bin, has there been any damaged caused?



If the Knife Amnesty Bins are found to be damaged on daily checks, the bin should be
emptied immediately by the attending officer and damage reported to the Sergeant so
repairs can be completed prior to re-use.



Clearance of the Knife Amnesty Bins will be conducted once per week on Sundays.



Officers performing clearance will always be double crewed and in possession of PPE. Due to
the nature of the items being recovered this task MUST be performed by Police Officers in
full possession of their PPE. Again, this tasking will be managed and deputed by the
Neighbourhood Policing Sergeant who can delegate this task accordingly.



Should there be no Neighbourhoods Team Staff on duty, this task can be delegated to staff
on the Local Response Team through liaison by the Sergeants from both the respective
teams.



***It is extremely important that this task is completed every week. The bins are not under
full control of the police service and therefore initially, whilst this procedure is in its infancy,
weekly recovery of any items is to ensure dangerous weapons are removed from the
locality. This is also balanced that the Knife Amnesty Bins are there as an anonymous way for
persons to discard offensive and dangerous weapons and therefore too much police
attention and activity near to them will dissuade people from using the Knife Amnesty Bins.

Page 27



Officers attending to clear the Knife Amnesty Bins will be in possession of PPE as mentioned.
Further to that, they will be in possession of PPE for the safe recovery of offensive weapons
including knives, swords and other weapons.
Unfortunately, trends also see that the Knife Amnesty Bins are used by drug users to discard
needles.



Officers will wear anti-puncture/slash proof gloves whilst clearing out the Knife Amnesty
Bins.



Officers will be in possession of a sharps bin and suitable extendable grabbers in order to
safely remove and dispose of needles in a sharps bin, needles would then need to be
deposited at an appropriate place.



Alternatively, this task could be requested to be perform by the local area council to perform
at an agreed time



Officers will remove offensive weapons to a police station so that the items can be logged.
Again, this information required will be and will be logged on the duty handover sheet:
1. Officer attending, time and location of Knife Amnesty Bin.
2. Number of offensive weapons located (e.g 21 Knives, 2 Police Style Batons, total =
23)
3. Type of weapons located
4. Any weapons which appear to have a forensic opportunity (blood), or appears to
match the description of a knife used in crime will inevitably be seized and forensic
examination will be requested as per investigative procedure using forensic
submission request [MG21].
5. **Any items seized for forensics will also be required to have an Intelligence
Report submitting. This will include time and date of recovery, where from and
why the item was seized and also any other information that may support the
Intelligence Report, under Operation SCEPTRE.



For any urgent forensic requests, whereby an item is believed to have been used in crime, or
may form crucial evidence in an ongoing investigation, advice should be sought from CSI as
to best practice for recovery and also liaise with CID.



Any items NOT believed to be of forensic value will be packaged appropriately using knife
tubes for all knives and booked into the property system for destruction.



Passwords/Codes / keys to the Knife Amnesty Bins will be held by the duty Sergeants and
given out to the attending officers when required. Any compromise of the password or
codes will require the Knife Amnesty Bins to be cleared and leave and taken out of use until
a new password/code is set.

Page 28

Harrogate Borough Council Knife Bin Risk Register April 2022
Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:
Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:

Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

CSKB001
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Knife Bin
Partnership/(s), Service Plan
Work in partnership with NYP to reduce knife crime and provide safe
place for the anonymous disposal of knives
Legal and governance/operational implications of locating NYP knife bin
on HBC land
Inadequate legal and governance/operational arrangements
Provide location at the HBC owned Car Park on Dragon Road , next to
ASDA for NYP to locate Knife Bin. Knives can be deposited anonymously
by members of the public at any time, there is some CCTV coverage
operated by HBC however this will not be monitored and will be
reviewed as appropriate.
Uncertainty about responsibility for operational and overall governance
including: - Ownership of bins - Responsibility for maintenance/emptying
- Response to incidents - Response to publicity/communications
requests - Lease/agreement terms/length - Responsibility for
emptying/repair/maintenance - Access to bin/opening times Operational procedures for contact/issues/CCTV
Helen Richardson
Secondary Owner:

Short Term (up to one year)
Legislation
Controls
Control
1-2-1s with Director monthly
Obtain operational procedures from NYP and confirm arrangements/contacts
Obtain legal advice on agreement/lease and any other requirements
Review meetings with NYP every month
Monthly updates with Cabinet member
Formal agreement signed/obtained/approved
Copies of operational procedures are produced and available (list location and responsible person)
Signage is checked for suitability and additional signage put up if required
Confirmation from HBC insurers that arrangements are adequate and documentation in place
Access arrangements and opening times confirmed with HCC, including when car park required for events
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Report to Head of service monthly and Cabinet member
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
2 - Moderate

Gross Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
4

Label
Amber

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
2

Label
Green

Page 29

Total Impact
1 - Small

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
2 - Possible
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Appetite Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Reviewed on 29 April 2022

Page 30

Total Assessment
2

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:
Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

CSKB002
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Knife Bin
Partnership/(s), Service Plan
Work in partnership with NYP to reduce knife crime and provide safe
place for the anonymous disposal of knives
Reputational Implications
Poor communication and political/reputational impact
Provide location at the HBC owned Car Park on Dragon Road, next to
ASDA for NYP to locate Knife Bin. Knives can be deposited anonymously
by members of the public at any time, there is some CCTV coverage
operated by HBC however this will not be monitored and will be
reviewed as appropriate.
- Complaints from Asda - Complaints from residents - Poor publicity Poor/mixed response to publicity/communications requests
Helen Richardson
Secondary Owner:

Short Term (up to one year)
Legislation
Controls
Control
1-2-1s with Director monthly
Review meetings with NYP every month
Monthly updates with Cabinet member
Information circulated to local residents
Contact/discussions and agreement with ASDA
Agreed communications procedures between HBC and NYP
Review of implementational impacts when introduced elsewhere
Lessons learned from implementation in other areas
Clear promotional information developed
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Owner

Report to Head of Service monthly and Cabinet member
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
2 - Moderate

Gross Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
4

Label
Amber

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
2 - Possible
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Appetite Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible
Page 31

Label
Green

Total Assessment
2

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Reviewed on 29 April 2022

Page 32

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:
Risk Name:
Risk Description:

Cause:

Impact/Consequence:

Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

CSKB003
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Knife Bin
Partnership/(s), Service Plan
Work in partnership with NYP to reduce knife crime and provide safe
place for the anonymous disposal of knives
Inadequate siting/construction/quality of knife bin and lack of on-going
maintenance
The knife bin is not sited securely and/or the design, fixing and
construction does not meet health and safety/legal requirements. The
knife bin is damaged and not repaired
Provide location at the HBC owned Car Park on Dragon Road, next to
ASDA for NYP to locate Knife Bin. Knives can be deposited anonymously
by members of the public at any time, there is some CCTV coverage
operated by HBC however this will not be monitored and will be
reviewed as appropriate.
Uncertainty about responsibility for knife bin siting, fixing and
construction: - The knife bin is unsecure/fails - Maintenance/emptying is
not undertaken - Injury/accidents
Helen Richardson
Secondary Owner:

Short Term (up to one year)
Legislation
Controls
Control
1-2-1s with Director monthly
Obtain operational procedures from NYP and confirm arrangements/contacts
Review meetings with NYP every month
Monthly updates with Cabinet member
Formal agreement signed/obtained/approved
Health and Safety assessment is undertaken
NYP provide knife bin and confirm specification and responsibility for adequacy and maintenance to ensure fit for
purpose
Siting is agreed with HBC and NYP install knife bin and confirm adequacy/safety of final fixing (and maintenance)
NYP are responsible for all checks and on-going maintenance
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Report to Head of service monthly and Cabinet member
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
4 - Catastrophic

Gross Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
8

Label
Amber

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Total Assessment
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
Page 33
2 - Possible
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small
Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Appetite Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible
Accept
Reviewed on 29 April 2022

Page 34

Total Assessment
2

Last Assessment Date

Label
Green

29/04/2022

Helen Richardson
Community Safety Officer
Safer Communities
HBC
Civic Centre

Our ref:
Your ref:
Date:

DCLETTER
6.79.DragonRoad.LETFRE
22/01975/LETFRE
25 May 2022

Dear Sir/Madam
APPLICATION NO: 6.79.DragonRoad.LETFRE 22/01975/LETFRE
PROPOSAL:
Knife bin in the Dragon Road Car Park
LOCATION:
Car Park Dragon Road Harrogate North Yorkshire
APPLICANT:
Helen Richardson
PUBLIC ACCESS: https://uniformonline.harrogate.gov.uk/onlineapplications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RC33L5HY0A800
Thank you for your enquiry.
Planning permission is not required as your proposal is "Permitted Development" under Part 12 Class A
of the General Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended).
This view is only correct at the time of writing and if the proposal or circumstances change, or
work does not start promptly, you are advised to have the proposal re-checked. Please keep
this letter in a safe place, preferably with your Deeds, for future reference. This letter is not a
Certificate of Lawfulness of the proposed development under Section 192 of the Act. You may
however apply for a Lawful Development Certificate, which if granted means that the proposal, if
completed prior to any change in legislation, is immune from any action under the Town and
Country Planning Act by the Council. Forms and details of the fee payable are available from
www.harrogate.gov.uk/planning or telephone Customer Services on 01423 500600.
If you require any further information or assistance, please contact me.
Yours faithfully
EMILY BROWN
Development Management Officer
Emily.Brown@harrogate.gov.uk
01423 500600 Ext 58717
If you are replying to this communication by post, please ensure that you use the
address at the bottom of the letter

Place-shaping & Economic Growth | Harrogate Borough
Council | PO Box 787 | Harrogate | HG1 9RW
Page 35
01423 500600 www.harrogate.gov.uk

Page 36

Knife Amnesty Bin – Pilot Project, Dragon Road Car Park, Harrogate.
Memorandum of Understanding
1

Background

1.1 North Yorkshire Police (NYP) and Harrogate Borough Council (HBC) are committed to
working in partnership with the community to reduce knife crime across the region.
1.2 A Knife Amnesty Bin will be installed in Harrogate district for an initial pilot period of one
year in order to tackle knife crime.
1.3 The bin will be based on HBC land at Dragon Road car park, Harrogate for the pilot one
year period. The pilot period will commence on the date at which the bin is installed and
fully commissioned for use.
1.4 NYP will pay for the building of, installation and regular maintenance of the Knife Amnesty
Bin during the pilot period.
2

Security and Integrity of Evidence

2.1 The bin is to be of solid construction and approved to the relevant standard as set by NYP.
This is to ensure the integrity and continuity of any item within the bin.
2.2 The construction of the bin will afford suitable protection from the elements to ensure
forensic preservation of evidence where necessary.
2.3 NYP have full responsibility for the regular maintenance of the bin by suitably qualified
individuals. The bin is to be checked daily and emptied weekly as per the NYP Procedure
appended to this MOU.
3

Operating Principles

3.1 NYP are fully responsible for the emptying and checking of the bin in line with the NYP
Procedure.
3.2 NYP will be responsible for the opening, recovery and disposal of all items within the bins.
3.3 NYP may need to undertake the forensic recovery of items within the bin. In such
circumstances the forensic recovery will take primacy over other factors such as media
and community presence.
3.4 Once an item is deposited into a weapons surrender bin it is assumed that the depositor
has relinquished ownership of the item and it will become the property of North Yorkshire
Police. The land owner (HBC) agrees not to make any claim of ownership in respect of the
items deposited.
3.5 In signing this MOU, the land owner (HBC) consents to North Yorkshire Police entering
the land where the surrender bin is located for the purpose of recovering items contained
within.

Page 37

4

Media and Publicity

4.1 HBC will liaise with NYP regarding any media events.
4.2 NYP will work with HBC regarding media coverage of the bin whilst it is on HBC land and
any media releases must be subject to the agreement of both parties to this MOU.
4.3 For each quarter, NYP will provide HBC with statistical data of recoveries.
4.4 HBC Marketing and Communications and NYP Corporate Communication and will ensure
lines of communication are maintained.
5

Other

5.1 Any new bins within the Harrogate District will be subject to the same Memorandum of
Understanding. This Memorandum of Understanding will continue to apply if a decision is
taken to extend the one year pilot period into a more permanent arrangement.
5.2 The Community Safety Hub Team will be the first point of contact for all requests for new
bins.
5.3 NYP and HBC can review this agreement at any time, in consultation with relevant
stakeholders.
5.4 There will be a joint review of the pilot scheme 3 months before the end of the pilot year.
5.5 The landowner (HBC) can ask for a review of the arrangement at any time and NYP agree
that on receipt of such a request they will conduct a review or remove the bin as soon as
is practicable.
5.6 NYP will continue to review the location of the bin to maximise effectiveness and safety.
5.7 HBC give permission for the knife bin to be bolted to the land. The area is to be made good
to a reasonable standard if the bin is removed.
5.8 HBC reserve the right to ask for the bin to be removed at any time within the pilot period.
5.9 NYP are to notify HBC if they are to remove the bin.

Signed:

NYP

Date Signed:

Signed

HBC

Date Signed:

Page 38

Agenda Item 2

Agenda Item No.

REPORT TO:

Cabinet Member Housing & Safer Communities

DATE:

2 August 2022

SERVICE AREA:

Safer Communities

REPORTING OFFICER:

Community Safety & CCTV Manager
(Julia Stack)

SUBJECT:

CCTV Annual Report 2021-22
CCTV Code of Practice – Updated
CCTV Update - General Information

WARD/S AFFECTED:

ALL DISTRICT

FORWARD PLAN REF:

Key Decision No. or N/A

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To present to the Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer Communities the
CCTV Annual Report 2021-22, updated CCTV Code of Practice and CCTV
Update.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

To approve the CCTV Annual Report 2021-22 (Appendix A).

2.2

To approve the updated CCTV Code of Practice June 2022 (Appendix B).

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASONS FOR DECISIONS

3.1

To deliver against the Corporate Priorities & Values – Supporting Our
Communities, Taking Responsibility, Showing Resilience, Working
Together.

3.2

To comply with national and local governance arrangements for CCTV.

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTION/S CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION (Must be used for reports to Cabinet & Cabinet Members)

4.1

Not to approve the Annual Report and updated CCTV Code of Practice is
not recommended, as it would be contrary to the guidance given to local
authorities in relation their obligations under Section 17 of the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998 (the Act) National Surveillance Camera Strategy for
England & Wales and Data Protection Legislation and a local authority’s

Page 39

1

duty to have regard for the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice when
exercising functions in relation to surveillance.
5.0

THE REPORT

5.1

CCTV Annual Report 2021-22

5.1.1

This report is produced to provide details of the CCTV surveillance system
in operation within the Harrogate district. It also assists to demonstrate
compliance with the Home Office Surveillance Camera Code of Practice.

5.1.2

The service has dealt with 4026 incidents and produced 198 pieces of
evidence in addition to its routine reviews, proactive and preventative
surveillance. This is an increase on the previous year however, this is to be
expected due to Covid lockdown restrictions. There continues to be a
number of distressing and challenging incidents for the team to deal with
and they have dealt with them in a highly competent and professional
manner. Provision is in place to support staff from a wellbeing perspective.

5.1.3

The volume work areas are; antisocial behaviour, dealing with missing and
vulnerable people and violent incidents including assaults, known offenders,
traffic observations and theft/shoplifting.

5.1.4

The CCTV Team continue to be actively involved in the Community Safety
Hub with regular input at meetings and contributions to aid problem solving.
The knowledge of the CCTV operators is particularly valuable and provides
up to date information that aids decision making. They have assisted in the
identification of regular street begging where the Housing Options Team
have been able to undertake face to face engagement and support.

5.2

CCTV Code of Practice

5.2.1

An annual review of the CCTV Code of Practice has taken place and
includes a review to ensure compliance against the national guidance
issued by the Surveillance Camera Commissioner duties.

5.2.2

The CCTV Code of Practice states that any complaints to the CCTV service
should be recorded and published. For this review period no complaints
have been received.

5.3

National Surveillance Camera & Biometric Commissioner & Strategy
for England & Wales

5.3.1

A new Surveillance Camera & Biometrics Commissioner (the
Commissioner) was appointed in March 2021 (Fraser Sampson). This
revised role includes responsibility for biometrics. We expect to see an
updated CCTV Strategy and the updated national Surveillance camera
Code of Practice came into effect on the 12th January 2022.
The existing strategy provides reassurance to the public that any use of
surveillance camera systems in a public place helps to protect and keep
them safe, whilst respecting an individual’s right to privacy. That assurance
is based upon deployment which is proportionate to a legitimate purpose,
and transparency which demonstrates compliance with best and good

Page 40

2

practice and relevant legal obligations. The CCTV Service continues to
comply with this strategy.
5.4

Single Point of Contact (SPOC)

5.4.1

The Community Safety & CCTV Manager is the named Single Point of
Contact (SPOC) in relation to the public open space CCTV cameras and all
cameras within council buildings.

5.5

Privacy Impact Assessments (PIA)

5.5.1

Principle 2 of the surveillance camera code of practice states that the use of
a surveillance camera system must take in to account the effect on
individuals and their privacy and to undertake regular reviews to ensure that
the use of surveillance cameras remain justified.

5.5.2

Privacy Impact Assessments are reviewed annually; this includes all public
open space cameras and any cameras that are standalone fixed assets not
linked to the CCTV control room.

5.6

CCTV & Local Government Reorganisation

5.6.1

CCTV is a specific work theme within the preparations for the forming of the
new North Yorkshire Council from April 2023. The focus is initially on ‘safe
and legal’ with an acceptance, that other development and transformation
work will identify opportunities in the future.

5.7

Deployable CCTV Camera

5.7.1

The deployable CCTV camera was used in 4 locations during the review
period. The camera offers an alternative surveillance approach is areas that
are not covered by fixed CCTV cameras. All deployments are based upon
problem solving and whether the use of a CCTV camera is an appropriate
tool and specifically whether its deployment meets a ‘pressing need’.

5.8

Staff

5.8.1

The CCTV service is managed by the Community Safety & CCTV Manager
with the dedicated support of 5 CCTV Operators and a number of casual
staff. There have been a number of recruitment challenges during the last
year. A restructure in the service has resulted in a new post of CCTV &
Business Crime Operations Officer. This post is responsible for the day-today operation of the CCTV service and coordinates the Business Crime
Partnership and Radiolink Service.

5.9

Shift Patterns & Operating Hours

5.9.1

The CCTV control room aims to operate 24/7, 365 days per year with active
management flexibility to align our operating practices to deal with demand,
peak working and operational need. All cameras record with data kept for a
period of 30 days. There have been a number of shifts that we have had to
close due to staff vacancies, these have been kept to a minimum.

Page 41

3

5.10

CCTV Maintenance Contract

5.10.1 The CCTV Maintenance Contract is in its final year of a five year contract.
This contract will be retendered during 2022 ready for a new contract from
April 2023.There have been 4 urgent and 118 non urgent repairs during
2021/22.
5.11

Radiolink Radio Rental Contract

5.11.1 Apex Radio Systems continues to be our Radiolink contractor providing
radios for rent to our customers and collecting subscriptions for the
Business Crime Partnership. This contract will be retendered during 2022.
5.12

External Funding

5.12.1 Funding for 2022/23 from NYCC remains at £28,000. North Yorkshire Police
and third parties will continue to be recharged in accordance with the
existing Service Level Agreement and agreed Fees and Charges for
2022/23 which are reviewed annually.
5.13

Public CCTV Managers Association

5.13.1 Membership of the Public CCTV Managers Association provides an
opportunity to influence the national agenda and to also shape the
development of national standards for the CCTV service. The Group has
strong links with the CCTV & Biometrics Commissioner.
5.14

Third Party Access Requests

5.14.1 The CCTV service can release footage to assist third parties such as
insurance companies with road traffic disputes. During 2021-22 CCTV
received 8 requests from third parties. A charge is made for this service and
must comply with our release policies.
6.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The following were considered: Financial Implications; Human Resources
Implications; Legal Implications; ICT Implications; Strategic Property/Asset
Management Considerations; Risk Assessment; Equality and Diversity (the
Public Sector Equality Duty and impact upon people with protected
characteristics).

6.2

Legal Services was consulted as part of the review of the CCTV Code of
Practice and to ensure compliance with the General Data Protection
Regulation (GDRP) requirements.

7.0

CONCLUSIONS

7.1

The CCTV Service continues to comply with new and emerging policies and
is embracing the work being developed nationally through the Biometrics &
CCTV Commissioner.

Page 42

4

7.2

The compliance work remains a priority for the service and extends to
cameras installed across all council buildings.

7.3

The Annual Report will be available on the Council’s website along with a
copy of the CCTV Code of Practice. Copies of the annual are report will also
be circulated to members of the Business Crime Partnership.

Background Papers –
Appendix A - CCTV Annual Report 2021-22
Appendix B - CCTV Code of Practice June 2022
OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact (Julia stack, Community Safety & CCTV
Manager), if you require any further information on the contents of this report. The
officer can be contacted at Safer Communities, PO Box 787, Harrogate, HG1
9RW 01423-500600 (ext 58190) or by e-mail – Julia.stack@harrogate.gov,uk

Page 43

5

This page is intentionally left blank

CCTV SERVICE
and RADIOLINK
ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22

The CCTV control room
This has been operational since 1997 and during this time
has developed its network of cameras and responded to
many challenges. It continues to provide a vital resource in the
fight against crime and contributes to keeping the district and our
streets safe.
The public open space CCTV camera network which is owned and
managed by Harrogate Borough Council continues to operate a comprehensive
surveillance service and business crime / Radiolink service to the main towns
of Harrogate, Ripon and Knaresborough.
The CCTV control room works alongside North Yorkshire Police and local
businesses in the retail and night time economy sector to prevent and detect
crime and provide reassurance and the reduction of fear of crime.
The cameras record 24 hours a day, 365 days a year with support from a
dedicated and qualified team of CCTV Operators.
During 2022 the CCTV Maintenance Contract and Business Crime Radiolink
contracts will be due to retendering ready for commencement from April 2023.

Our camera network
The CCTV Control room manages a network of 290 public open space
cameras. In addition to these cameras there are a number of cameras
that are managed by the service that are linked to other corporate assets.
Harrogate town centre and surrounding areas
Starbeck
Knaresborough town
Ripon city
Parks
Council multi story car parks
Leisure centres
Other council buildings

45
1
9
10
3
54
93
75

24HR CCTV RECORDING
IN OPERATION

Additional cameras have been installed at the recently redeveloped
leisure centre at Ripon with new cctv schemes planned for the
Hydro and Knaresborough Pool during 2022/23.

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

Page 45

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22 P1

e
1
c
2
2 2
n
0
0
2
a
2
l
i
During the last year the control room dealt with 4026 incidents
m an increase
r
pr rch
of 682 from 2020/21 and produced 198 evidential
A a
o
copies in addition to surveillance. The increase in incidents is linked to
f
Covid
19 restrictions and the impact of lockdown measures. As the economy
r
M
opened
up
the incident levels increased. Also conducted 129 reviews for
e

r
u

O

p

North Yorkshire Police.

CCTV Operators have continued to provide a proactive approach to surveillance
with the focus on preventing and detecting crime and supporting the police and other
front line businesses.

The control room is able to communicate via Airwaves direct to the police, this collaborative
approach provide a real time response and maximises opportunities to obtain the best evidence.

Complaints

Our CCTV Code of Practice detail that the service record and publish information in relation to any complaints
it receives about CCTV. For the review period no complaints were received.
Outlined below are the main types of incidents that the CCTV control room staff deal with on a regular basis,
and other routine work including maintenance and emergency planning responses.

Drink associated

82 up by 34

Assault/Violence

343 up by 164

Missing/vulnerable
persons/ concern for
welfare

634 down by 162

P2

Theft from vehicle/
theft of vehicle

Anti-Social behaviour

597 up by 171

Shoplifting

30 down by 5

Criminal damage

852 up by 151

72 up by 16

Robbery

23 up by 12

31 up by 14

Page 46

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22

86 up by 1

Traffic observation

187 up by 41

Posession of
offensive wepon

Drug associated

Maintenance faults

118 non critical
and 4 critical

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

Purpose of the Public Open
Space Camera Network
The primary objective of the CCTV scheme is
to provide a safe public environment for the
benefit of those who live, trade, visit, service
and enjoy the facilities of the area. This
objective will be carried out by the pro-active
monitoring of the system, so as to:

Management Responsibility - CCTV
Code of Practice & Compliance
Management responsibility for the monitoring,
operation and technical maintenance of the
CCTV scheme is undertaken by the Council with
a maintenance contract in place to deal with
faults and replacement CCTV equipment. The
Community Safety & CCTV Manager is the named
Single Point of Contact (SPOC) with the CCTV
Commissioner.
The annual review of the Code of Practice has
taken place with only minor updates. The Code
of Practice reflects the requirements of the Data
Protection Act 1998 and other relevant legislation.
The CCTV scheme is registered with the
Information Commissioners Office.
This document sets out the purpose of the CCTV
system owned and managed by the Council. A
copy of the Code can be found on the website
The CCTV Service undertakes an annual Privacy
Impact Assessment on all public open space
cameras and any cameras located in a Council
building or new schemes being proposed.

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

•

assist in the detection and prevention of
crime and antisocial behaviour; along with
the maintenance of public order

•

facilitate the apprehension and prosecution
of offenders in relation to crime and public
order

•

prevent or mitigate interruptions to traffic
flow (not to endorse minor breaches of
traffic law)

•

reduce the fear of crime and provide
reassurance to the public

•

provide the Police and the Council with
evidence to take criminal and civil action in
the Courts

•

to assist in improving the environment in
the areas monitored including town and city
centres

•

to provide assistance to emergency
services

•

to assist third parties with evidence to take
criminal and civil actions

Deployable CCTV Camera
The CCTV service has one deployable
CCTV camera. The camera is deployed
to support community safety work across
the district. The Community Safety Hub
agrees all deployments where partner
agencies come together to problem solve.
The camera is considered alongside other
preventative approaches and are only
deployed on a temporary basis before
moving to another location. During 2021-22
the camera was deployed to four locations.

Page 47

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22 P3

Case studies

New CCTV Schemes
During 2021 the cameras at the new
Ripon Leisure Centre came on line, with
a live feed back to the CCTV control room.
Each camera has been assessed from a
privacy perspective and will be subject to
annual reviews.

Night club vigilance results in
arrest for drink driving
In the early hours of a February morning, the CCTV
control room received a call from a local Night Club
venue who are members of the Pub Watch scheme
stating a road traffic accident had occurred near to a
set of traffic lights in Harrogate town centre.

Work is underway to consider new CCTV
schemes at the Hydro and Knaresborough
leisure sites. The schemes will be
assessed using the CCTV Commissioner
12 Principles and self-assessment toolkits
which included whether there is a ‘pressing
need’ for CCTV.

On observing, the female driver appeared unsteady
on her feet and possibly under the influence of drink or
drugs. The CCTV control room informed the police and
gave updates on location for officers while watching the
vehicle on camera as it made its way out of the town.
Officers on a local housing estate stopped the vehicle
and the female driver was breathalysed and subsequently
arrested for drink driving and was more than twice the
legal limit.

Criminal damage arrest due to
vigilance of CCTV staff
CCTV monitor three young females late at night near the
bus station in Harrogate.
They all appear in drink and are quite rowdy. They are
monitored towards Station Parade where one of them is
seen to cause damage to a shop.
Police are alerted via radio and unit attends. The girls are
initially spoken to whilst police assess the damage.
CCTV are able to point out the individual who caused the
damage, which results in an arrest.

Protecting victims of crime
Mojo door staff alerted CCTV via the Radiolink scheme to
a couple that were arguing on Oxford Street. They stated
the male had pushed the female against a wall. CCTV
did not witness this but did continue to monitor the couple
who were still clearly arguing. CCTV informed the police
who asked that the situation be monitored whilst an officer
made their way.
The couple walked for a short time with no issues but
then the male grabbed the female by the throat, bending
her backwards over a wall. He then kicked her as she
went to the floor. CCTV immediately informed the police
again and officers were now close by. The male was seen
to walk off camera. CCTV advised of the last sighting
of him and he was located hiding in a bush. The male
was subsequently arrested and a CCTV evidence was
produced.

P4

Page 48

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22

Safeguarding a
vulnerable person
The police inform CCTV of a male who
suffers with dementia who is reported lost
within the town centre. Messages and
a description of the male go out via the
Radiolink scheme requesting that shops
look out for the missing male. CCTV locate
and monitor a male matching the clothing
description near the conference centre.
Police are directed to the male, all is well
and he is returned safely home.

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

Radiolink and Business Crime
HDBAC Radiolink report
Throughout the pandemic, Radiolink
membership has been up and down. We
have gained new members such as Clintons,
WHSmiths and Hidden Bar. We also have
4 businesses in the process of joining and
many more interested.
Sadly due to the financial pressures of the
pandemic and businesses closing, it means
we have lost members over the year.
Over the next year there will be intelligence
packs distributed to Radiolink members.
This will keep shops up to date with current
offenders and help deter shoplifters.

HDBAC Radiolink membership figures

Harrogate CCTV is at the forefront of a
pilot scheme, utilising better methods of
communications to liaise with the police
resulting in CCTV monitoring an additional
97 incidents over a 3 month period.

Membership at
31 March 2022

Ben Harrison – CCTV and Business Crimes
Operations Officer
Tel: 01423 556628
E-mail: benjaminharrison@harrogate.gov.uk

Free earpieces for members

TOTAL

58

21

79

CCTV Radiolink In Action
Superdrug reported a sighting of two people in
town they believed were suspects of shoplifting
£400 worth of stock a couple of weeks prior.
They reported the sighting on Radiolink
to CCTV and other shops.

As part of a programme to increase
communication between Radiolink members
and the CCTV control room, HDBAC has
received 115 ear pieces that are to be
distributed to members free of charge.

CCTV monitored the couple entering Boots,
plain clothed police officers waited outside and
stopped them as they left.

There is still a number of the earpieces
remaining, if you’re a member and would like
to receive an earpiece then please contact:

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

Night time
economy

4 retailers currently in the process of joining

The success of this pilot scheme may result
in other North Yorkshire control rooms
following our methods.

benjaminharrison@harrogate.gov.uk

Retail

They were both arrested after being found in
possession of foil lined bags. They refused to
give their details.
Superdrug confirmed they were the suspects
from the previous incident.

Page 49

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22 P5

Radiolink and Business Crime
Incidents reported to CCTV or initiated by CCTV operators
(April 2021 – March 2022)
initiated by
CCTV operator

reported to
CCTV by police

reported to CCTV
by radiolink
members

Shoplifting

8

51

128

Assault / Violence

64

176

103

102

267

228

205

324

116

Anti-social
behaviour
Suspect person or
known offenders

HDBAC is an accredited partnership linked to the
National Association of Business Crime Partnerships.
Our accreditation will be due during 2022.
To support our partnership we have a board of management, this is made
up of representatives from retail and night time economy.
The current board members are:

P6

James White
Victoria Centre
Manager

Paul Forder
Store Manager ,
Superdrug, Ripon

Alan Huddart
Harrogate Pubwatch
Secretary

Andrea Thornbarrow
Store Manager,
Primark, Harrogate

Page 50

CCTV SERVICE Annual Report 2021/22

www.harrogate.gov.uk/cctv

HARROGATE DISTRICT
CCTV SERVICE

OPERATIONAL
CODE OF PRACTICE

Safer Communities
St Luke’s Avenue
Harrogate
HG1 2AE

June 2022

Page 51

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 1 of 18

CONTENTS
PARAGRAPH
1

INTRODUCTION

2

DEFINITIONS

3

PURPOSE

4

DATA PROTECTION

5

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT

6

DATA PROTECTION CODE OF PRACTICE FOR
SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS AND PERSONAL INFORMATION

7

CHANGE TO THE CODE

8

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER

9

ACCOUNTABILITY

10

PUBLIC INFORMATION

11

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY

12

ASSESSMENT OF THE SCHEME

13

STAFF

14

COMPLAINTS

15

BREACHES OF THE CODE

16

CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS

17

ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM

18

DISCS AND RECORDED MATERIAL

19

PHOTOGRAPHS

20

DEALING WITH INCIDENTS

21

POLICE CONTACTS AND USE OF THE SYSTEM

22

CONSULTATION PROCEDURES

APPENDICES:

Page 52

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 2 of 18

Appendix 1
Access to CCTV Control Room Authorisation
Appendix 2
Operator Confidentiality Form
Appendix 3
Complaints Procedure
Appendix 3
Request for Authorised Visit

Page 53

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 3 of 18

CCTV SURVEILLANCE SERVICE
OPERATIONAL CODE OF PRACTICE
1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

Harrogate Borough Council (HBC) has installed a comprehensive CCTV
surveillance system which covers key areas, namely town centre areas and
associated car parks in Harrogate, Knaresborough and Ripon, along with
other HBC owned properties and areas including the Civic Centre, the Hydro,
Jack Laugher Leisure & Wellness Centre, the Crematorium, Parks and Open
Spaces, HBC Homeless Hostels. There are also internal cameras within the
CCTV Control Room and a deployable camera.

1.2

The CCTV system is owned by Harrogate Borough Council and the central
Control Room is staffed by Council employees.

1.3

The CCTV Control Room provides surveillance to meet business and
operational need and will provide 24 hour recording. Authorised users will be
given direct access to the control room, as defined in the agreement
appended as Appendix 1 to this Code.

1.4

This Code of Practice provides a clear statement of the purpose of the
scheme gives guidance on the operation and management of the system and
provides a method by which the public can make representations to
Harrogate Borough Council about issues raised in relation to the use of
CCTV.

1.5

All recorded material is owned by Harrogate Borough Council and will be
subject to the statutory conditions of the Data Protection Act 1998 & 2018 and
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, and also in accordance with
paragraphs 17 and 18 of this Code of Practice.

2.0

DEFINITIONS

2.1

“The Surveillance Area”

means the area covered by the CCTV
cameras

“CCTV System”

means the surveillance system installed to
cover the public area

“CCTV Operator”

any member of staff employed by HBC to
monitor CCTV images at the Control Room

“The Management Group”

means the group comprising of the Head of
Safer Communities, Community Safety &
CCTV Manager, Traffic Signals Engineer
(NYCC) , the CCTV Supervisor and HBC ICT
Representative

“Cabinet Member”

Cabinet Member Housing & Safer
Communities

Page 54

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 4 of 18

2.2

“HBC”

means the Council of the Borough of
Harrogate

“DCA”

nominated Director or Director of Corporate
Affairs of HBC and includes any officer duly
authorised by him to carry out the
requirements of this Code

HSC

Head of Safer Communities

Authorised Body

Any Authority who has a Service Level
Agreement in place for the provision of
CCTV services from HBC

“The Control Room”

the monitoring centre operated by HBC in
Harrogate (the exact address of which is
confidential)

“RIPA”

means the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act 2000

For the purposes of this Code, where the context so require:
(a)
(b)
(c)

singular includes the plural;
references to any party shall include its successors in title of that party;
reference to any statute shall include that statute as subsequently
amended, all such instruments made under the statute and reenactment of the relevant provisions in the subsequent statute.

3.0

PURPOSE

3.1

The primary objective of the scheme is to provide a safe public environment
for the benefit of those who live, trade, visit, service and enjoy the facilities of
the area. This objective will be carried out by the pro-active monitoring of the
system, so as to:









3.2

assist in the detection and prevention of crime and antisocial behaviour;
along with the maintenance of public order
facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of offenders in relation to
crime and public order
prevent or mitigate interruptions to traffic flow (not to endorse minor
breaches of traffic law)
reduce the fear of crime and provide reassurance to the public
provide the Police and the Council with evidence to take criminal and civil
action in the Courts
to assist in improving the environment in the areas monitored including
town and city centres
to provide assistance to emergency services
to assist third parties with evidence to take criminal and civil actions (see
3.3 below)

Privacy

Page 55

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 5 of 18

Every consideration will be given to the right of the general public to go about
their daily business with minimum loss of privacy. Whereas total privacy
cannot be guaranteed within a CCTV surveillance area, the cameras will not
be used to unduly monitor persons going about their lawful business. It is
inevitable that individuals could be caught on camera briefly during general
surveillance but persons will only be specifically monitored, for any length of
time, if there is suspicion or knowledge that an offence may have occurred or
be about to occur. In such an event, the CCTV Operator must log the
incident giving a reason for the monitoring of the individual. CCTV Operators
must be able to justify their actions.
3.3

The CCTV system will be used for the provision of recordings for evidential
purposes to the Police and other bodies having prosecution powers, such as
Customs & Excise or the Health & Safety Executive. In some instances, the
system may, at the discretion of the HBC Legal department, be used for the
investigation of specific matters of a different type such as insurance
companies dealing with road traffic incidents.
This Code of Practice is supplemented by a separate electronic procedural
database. Information is restricted to CCTV staff.

4.0

DATA PROTECTION

4.1

The CCTV system is registered with the Information Commissioner’s Office.

5.0

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS

5.1

The CCTV system will operate in accordance with the RIPA and HBC’s policy
on covert collection of information.

6.0

A DATA PROTECTION CODE OF PRACTICE FOR SURVEILLANCE
CAMERAS AND PERSONAL INFORMATION (15/10/2014)

6.1

In compliance with the Information Commissioner’s Office, the system will be
reviewed annually to ensure that each camera is fit for its specific purpose
and is proportionate to the needs of the surveillance area.

6.2

Principle 2 of the surveillance camera code of practice states that the use of a
surveillance camera system must take into account the effect on individuals
and their privacy.

6.3

A Privacy Impact Assessment on each camera will be undertaken annually
and include consideration of the Protection of Freedom Act 2012, the Human
Rights Act 1998 and Data Protection Legislation. This will be undertaken in
accordance with the Data Protection Impact Assessment Framework
produced by the Surveillance Camera & Biometrics Commissioner.

7.0

OTHER LEGISLATION

Page 56

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 6 of 18

7.1

The CCTV system will comply with the Airwave Service Code of Practice and
hold the necessary TEA2 User Sub Licence. A Memorandum of
Understanding is in place with North Yorkshire Police for the use of Airwaves.

7.2

CCTV Operators, Supervision and Management will be subject to compliance
with the Official Secrets Act 1989.

7.3

Compliance against the National Surveillance Camera Strategy for England
and Wales and specifically Principle 5; Clear rules, policies and procedures
must be in place before a surveillance camera system is used and these must
be communicated to all who need to comply with them. Updated national
Surveillance Camera Code of Practice January 2022.

8.0

CHANGES TO THIS CODE

8.1

A major change will only take place after full consultation is undertaken with
the relevant interest groups and upon the agreement of organisations who
have a participatory role in the operation of the system. Any change must be
approved by the Cabinet Member.

8.2

A minor change may be agreed by the Management Group without the
approval of the Cabinet Member. Any such change must be reported using
the normal procedures.

8.3

A major change will have a significant impact upon the Code of Practice or
upon the operation of the scheme. A minor change is one which is required
for clarification will not have a significant impact.

9.0

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER

9.1

The “Owner” of the system is HBC, Safer Communities, St Luke’s Avenue
Harrogate, North Yorkshire, HG1 2AE

9.2

All responsibility for the introduction and implementation of the Code of
Practice and the full compliance with operational guidance resides with the
Owner.

9.3

This Code of Practice and any subsequent amendments will be made
available for public examination by the Owner and is available on the
Council’s website.

10.0 ACCOUNTABILITY
10.1 Copies of this Code of Practice and particulars of the Complaints system
detailed in paragraph 15 below will be made available.
10.2 Copies of the Annual Report will be published by the Owner in accordance
with this Code of Practice and upon approval by the Cabinet Member and
made available to the public.
10.3 The Police are required to satisfy the Owner that they have in place systems
to monitor and audit the participation of the Police in the scheme including full
compliance with this Code of Practice. Monitoring and Audit must be
undertaken by police officers of appropriate seniority and experience. For

Page 57

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 7 of 18

audit purposes the officer should have the appropriate skills, irrespective of
rank. This individual may be a civilian or Police officer employed by North
Yorkshire Police.
10.4 Spot monitoring or audits will be carried out by the Community Safety &
CCTV Manager and or the CCTV & Business Crime Operations Officer. If the
audit involves the duties of either of these then that member should not be
part of the audit team and the other representative should carry out the audit
with another member of the Management Group.
10.5 The Community Safety & CCTV Manager is the named Single Point of
Contact (SPOC) responsible for compliance of surveillance camera systems,
best practice and relevant legal obligations within HBC.
11.0 PUBLIC INFORMATION
11.1 Cameras should not be hidden but should, as far as is consistent with the
purposes of the network, be placed on public view.
11.2 Signs that CCTV cameras are operating shall be displayed in and around the
surveillance area in locations visible to members of the public.
11.3 There is no requirement to place signs directly under cameras however any
signage must be visible. Regular reviews take place on the locations of any
signage.
11.4 This Code of Practice shall be freely available to the public.
11.5 The owner will publish an Annual Report following approval by the Cabinet
Member.
12.0 RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY
12.1 The network will operate in a manner that is sensitive to the privacy of people
residing and working in the surveillance area. The cameras will only view
public areas and not look through windows/doors of private premises.
Exceptions to this may be made when a RIPA authorisation is in place or in
response to a request by Police when a crime is believed to be taking place.
See 6.2
13.0 ASSESSMENT OF THE NETWORK
13.1 The “Owner” is responsible for ensuring that the CCTV system is evaluated
periodically, at least on an annual basis. This function shall take the form of a
written report to the Cabinet Member.
13.2 Evaluation of the network will include data on the following performance
indicators as part of a written report:





Number of incidents/occurrences
Number of discs processed (evidential)
Number of stills processed
Number of incidents reviewed

Page 58

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 8 of 18



Grading of each camera – based upon frequency of use, the number of
incidents per camera and the opinions of the CCTV Team and NYCC
Urban Traffic Control Management.

14.0 STAFF
14.1 The Owner will be responsible for selecting and employing all staff employed
to work with the CCTV system.
14.2 An effective and fair system of recruitment and selection of staff shall be
employed which includes measures to ensure that the selection process
provides for validation of the suitability of candidates by way of Police vetting,
combined with observation and communication skills tests.
14.3 All front line CCTV operators must undertake the necessary accredited
Security Industry Authority CCTV Training and comply with the Security
Industry Authority standards of licensing. Training will be provided by the
employer in the form of in-house training.
14.4 A disciplinary procedure shall be in place which incorporates compliance with
the Code of Practice and operations procedures and also makes plain the risk
to staff in the event of breaches of the code or misappropriation of recordings
or photographs.
14.5 All CCTV staff, supervision and management must be bound by an
agreement of confidentiality which can be enforced during and after
termination of employment. Any proven breach of confidentiality could mean
instant dismissal. A sample form of agreement is attached as Appendix 2
14.6 A defined system of staff monitoring and supervision has been implemented
that ensures compliance with this Code of Practice and the operational
procedures. The Community Safety & CCTV Manager / CCTV & Business
Crime Operations Officer will have responsibility for ensuring that CCTV Staff
follow the operational procedures. The Control Room will have a generic
Operational Procedure Manual as well as an electronic version available to all
operational staff.
15.0 COMPLAINTS
15.1 To obtain universal recognition this Code of Practice must address the
interests of all who may be affected by it, and not confined to the interests of
the “Owner”, or the needs of the criminal justice system.
15.2 Information about the manner in which an individual can make observations
or a complaint about any aspect of the scheme must be published. A copy of
this information is annexed to this Code of Practice. Appendix 3
15.3 All investigations following a complaint must be carried out in an impartial
manner and reported to the Head of Safer Communities.
15.4 Investigations following a serious complaint must be carried out by the
Community Safety and CCTV Manager.
15.5 All remedies must be communicated in writing to the complainant.

Page 59

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 9 of 18

16.0 BREACHES OF THE CODE
16.1 Responsibility for security issues in respect of CCTV will rest with the DCA or
any duly appointed Officer.
16.2 All breaches of this Code of Practice and of security will be subject to proper
investigation by, in the first instance, the HSC. This person shall be
responsible for making recommendations to the Owner to remedy any breach
proved.
16.3 If the breach is of a serious nature the HSC must appoint an individual with
relevant professional qualifications independent from the operation of the
scheme to investigate the breach and to make recommendations to the
Owner on how the breach can be remedied.
17.0 CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS
17.1 All CCTV Operators who have access to the camera equipment and
recording equipment must act with the utmost probity.
17.2 Only CCTV Operators with responsibility for using the equipment shall have
access to the operating controls.
17.3 All use of the cameras and control equipment shall be in accordance with the
purposes and key objectives of the scheme as detailed in the business plan,
the annual report, the policy on covert collection of information RIPA and this
Code of Practice.
17.4 Cameras must not be used to look into private residential property unless this
is part of an authorised surveillance operation. The Owner must adopt
operational procedures and technological measures that ensure restraints are
imposed upon the use of cameras overlooking private premises.
17.5 All CCTV Operators shall be subject to supervision procedures and work
practices that are sufficient to ensure compliance with this Code.
17.6 All CCTV Operators are to be made aware that their actions, operations and
recordings are subject to routine audit and that they may be required to justify
actions or their interest in a member of the public or premises.
17.7 CCTV Cameras used in the monitoring of HBC owned premises may be used
for the provision of evidence in staff disciplinary procedures. HBC managers
of those premises will make staff aware of this.
18.0 ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM
18.1 Only those HBC Officers or Police officers with a legitimate reason to do so
will be allowed access to the Control Room.
18.2 Public access to the Control Room or the demonstration of equipment shall
not be allowed except for lawful, proper and sufficient reasons. All to be
agreed by the Head of Safer Communities.

Page 60

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 10 of 18

18.3 A responsible CCTV Operator will be present during the operation of the
monitoring equipment. If monitors are to be left unattended, the room must
be secured against unauthorised entry.
18.4 A Control Room occurrence log shall be maintained. It will record details of
the duty (shift) operative, and will include the names of any persons, or
groups that have gained authorised entry to the Control Room. It should also
contain details of any unusual occurrences regarding entry to the Control
Room.
18.5 The operation of the monitoring equipment shall be limited to staff with the
correct authorisation, training and responsibility.
18.6 Arrangements for the Control Room must include the following requirements
to ensure that the Control Room is secure at all times:








Routines and procedures and any other facilities necessary to ensure that
the Control Room is protected from unauthorised access.
Records are kept of all access to the Control Room, recording details of
the individual concerned, and time of arrival and departure.
Operation times and the numbers of staff on shift are clearly defined and
complied with.
Access to the Control Room is restricted to operating staff and their
managers according to pre-arranged shifts and on production of valid
identification.
Technical repairs and cleaning and similar tasks should be carried out in
controlled circumstances.
Access by visitors should be carefully defined and be the responsibility of
the owner.
Police visits will be made in order to interview staff or to collect or return
recorded footage. All Police visits must comply with the provisions of this
Code of Practice, and the purpose of the visit should be established and
confirmed and approved by the Duty Operator.

18.7 Security procedures on access to the Control Room must be maintained and
strictly adhered to. Access must be monitored and all concerned should know
that security procedures on access to the Control Room are included in the
regular audit.
18.8 The occurrence log must be maintained on the basis of date and time of day
throughout operations and brief details given of all incidents within the Control
Room, including particulars of visits.
18.9 All security systems must be fully maintained and any defects reported to the
Individual with day-to-day responsibility for the scheme.

19.0 RECORDED MATERIAL
19.1 All recorded material produced from the CCTV system remains the property
of HBC and is protected by copyright until the point when the Authorised Body

Page 61

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 11 of 18

signs the “Transfer of Data” form and therefore becomes the Data Controller
for that material.
19.2 Recorded material shall only be used for the purposes as defined in the Code
of Practice.
19.3 Access to recorded material will only take place as defined in this Code of
Practice.
19.4 The showing of recorded material to the public will only be allowed in
accordance with the law; either in compliance with the needs of the Police in
connection with the investigation of crime, which will be conducted in
accordance with the provisions of any relevant Code of Practice under the
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 and any advice and guidance given to
the Police from time to time or in any other circumstances provided by law.
All recorded material is subject to the conditions and provisions of the Data
Protection Act 1998 General Data Protection Regulation 2018, the Data
Protection Act 2018 and RIPA 2000.
19.5 The following points must be observed when handling recorded material:Use of Recording Equipment
Recording equipment should be checked daily to ensure it is in good working
order and evidential discs should be checked before issuing to ensure the
recording quality is sufficient.
Evidential Use of Recordings










Any disc that is provided for evidential purposes must be of proven
integrity
Staff will provide the Police with witness statements required for evidential
purposes
Copy discs must be individually and uniquely identified and labelled
A register(s) must be maintained giving the exact date and time of the
production of each disc, the name of the person requesting the evidence
and the reason for the request
A Master Copy and a Working Copy will be produced for each evidential
request
The Master Copy will be sealed in a numbered evidence bag
The Master Copy will not be stored in the Control Room, all disc copies
will be handed over to the Authorised Body
Copy discs not collected by the requesting officer within six weeks will be
destroyed
Before any copies are removed from the Control Room, a Transfer of Data
form must be completed and signed by the duty CCTV Operator and the
Authorised Body.

By signing the Transfer of Data Form, the Authorised Body accepts
responsibility for the retention, secure storage and destruction of the
evidential copies
Police access to recordings

Page 62

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 12 of 18








Police may apply for access in accordance with an agreement made with
the owner where the Police reasonably believe that access to specific
recordings is necessary for the proper investigation and detection of a
particular offence or offences or for the prevention of crime
Police may obtain access under the provisions of the Police and Criminal
Evidence Act 1984 (PACE)
Discs provided to the Police shall at no time be used for anything other
than the purpose specified and identified when the discs are released to
the Police by the Control Room
Arrangements may be made from time to time for a Police officer
appointed in accordance with liaison arrangements to visit the Control
Room and confirm that agreed procedures are being followed
Charges will be made for reviewing and the production of evidence. The
police will be notified annually of any changes in accordance with the
service level agreement 2011/12.

Third party access to recordings







Access to recordings may be obtained in connection with civil disputes by
court order or be extended to lawyers acting for defendants or victims in
connection with criminal proceedings.
In certain circumstances, within the boundaries of the Data Protection
legislation and RIPA 2000 insurance companies may have access to
recordings of incidents in connection with their enquiries e.g. road traffic
incidents.
No other access will be allowed unless approved by the individual
appointed as the Data Protection Officer for HBC for reasons which fall
within the purposes and objectives of the scheme and in accordance with
the Code of Practice
Charges will be made for reviewing and the production of evidence.
Details of charges will be made available on the Council website.

19.6 Secure arrangements must be made for the use of certain discs for the
purposes of Police and staff training.
19.7 As the scheme is registered with the Information Commissioner’s Office it is
necessary to provide a viewing station and to make arrangements to protect
the images of other individuals on recordings from being disclosed.
20.0 PHOTOGRAPHS
20.1 Still photographs should not be taken as a matter of routine. The taking of
each photograph must be capable of justification.
20.2 All still photographs will remain the property of the owner and will be indexed
in sequence. A record will be kept of the reason for production of the
photograph, date and time, the particulars of production of a live photograph,
and information identifying the Control Room staff member responsible for
producing the photograph.
20.3 Any still photograph released to the police will be dealt with by the police as
an exhibit and shall be used in the course of their investigation to detect and

Page 63

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 13 of 18

prevent crime and disorder and used as evidence for prosecution. At no time
should it be used for anything other than the purpose specified and identified
when released to the Police.
20.4 All still photographs will be destroyed within six months unless made the
subject of an application from the Police or if they are required as evidence.
A record will be kept of the destruction of all photographs.
20.5 The use of photographs for briefing camera Operators should be conducted
strictly in accordance with advice from the Police to avoid contamination of
evidence. Unless otherwise advised by Police, photographs:



should not be on display and should be kept in a binder or album
should be seen only by individuals stipulated by the Police

21.0 DEALING WITH INCIDENTS
21.1 Locally agreed procedures must provide for:





Referral to Police who will respond according to local agreement
Compliance with local arrangements for reporting town centre
management incidents or concerns
Compliance with local arrangements for reporting matters to emergency
services
Referral to security staff according to local arrangements

22.0 POLICE CONTACTS AND USE OF THE SYSTEM
22.1 Relationships between Control Room staff and management employed by the
owner and the Police must be conducted strictly in compliance with this Code
of Practice. These requirements must not be exceeded formally, and the
different roles and responsibilities of staff and Police should be acknowledged
and respected.
22.2 Officers should be identified by the Police and the owner for liaison for day-today purposes. Senior staff should be nominated for liaison for audit purposes
and for assisting in making recommendations effecting the operational
management of the scheme.
22.3 Access to recordings and the Control Room must comply with the Code of
Practice and the time and date and purpose of such access be recorded and
monitored.
22.4 The purpose for different links, which must accord with the Code of Practice
and operational guidance, between Police and Control Room should be
understood, complied with, and not exceeded. Any change in these links will
amount to a change in the Code of Practice and must be agreed in
accordance with the Code of Practice before being implemented.
22.5 All incidents and occurrences involving the Police will be recorded in the
Control Room incident log.

Page 64

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 14 of 18

22.6 Use of the system by the Police must be in accordance with the Code of
Practice, operations manual, and agreed protocols and must be subject to
procedural safeguards and audit.
23.0 NORTH YORKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL ACCESS TO THE NETWORK
23.1 NYCC through a Service Level Agreement have access to named cameras
on the network in order to undertake their urban traffic control management
functions.
24.0 CONSULTATION PROCEDURES Section 17 Crime and Disorder Act
1998
24.1 Formal consultation must be established by HBC Departments with the
Community Safety and CCTV Manager under Section 17 of the Crime &
Disorder Act 1998. This consultation must allow the Community Safety &
CCTV Manager to respond within 21 days to any notice of development,
works, alterations or planting which may affect the quality of the CCTV
system or may require its amendment or extension.
24.2 The duty on the Council is to take into account the crime and disorder
implications of decisions it makes and must include the use of or the effect on
the CCTV system which is seen as a major contributor to the safety levels in
town centres.

Page 65

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 15 of 18

APPENDIX 1
HARROGATE BOROUGH COUNCIL CCTV CONTROL ROOM
Access to the above facility is restricted and any visit must be fully authorised five
working days before the visit.
Please complete this form and full, obtain authorisation and then email it to the
Community Safety & CCTV Manager to julia.Stack@harrogate.gov.uk
This request is made
by:
Purpose of visit:

Date of proposed visit:
Time of proposed visit:
All members of the group must provide the name, one line address and name
the organisation they represent. Last minute substitutes are not permitted.
Name

Address

Organisation

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

HBC officer who will accompany the
group:
Authorised
by:

Signature:

on:

Page 66

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 16 of 18

APPENDIX 2
CCTV OPERATIVES
CONFIDENTIALITY OF OPERATIONS

PLEASE READ AND SIGN THE FOLLOWING DECLARATION

I

(Name)

of

(Address)

having applied for and obtained the position of Closed Circuit Television Operative
declare the following:1)

My appointment is to a security sensitive post within the meaning of BS5759
and BS7499 and I understand as such it is my responsibility to act in a
manner that safeguards the security of the CCTV system, its customers, my
colleagues and myself.

2)

I will fulfil my duties as detailed in the “CCTV operations manual” and comply
fully with the “Operational Code of Practice”.

3)

At no time either on or off duty will I divulge any information about the security
aspect of my duties to another individual. This includes relating to
occurrences, arrests, operations and the names of individuals observed.

Signed:
Date:
Name:

Witness:

Name:

Page 67

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 17 of 18

APPENDIX 3
COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE
Complaints direct at, and issued against, the CCTV system
Owner of the CCTV system: Harrogate Borough Council

Procedure
1.

When issuing a verbal complaint, the complainant or person(s) acting on
behalf of the complainant, will kindly be requested to translate the exact
details of the complaint into a written letter. Any resulting correspondence is
to be addressed to:
Director of Community
PO Box 787
Harrogate Borough Council
HG1 2AE

2.

Upon receipt of any complaint, the Head of Safer Communities and the
Community Safety & CCTV Manager will immediately be notified of the
specific details and nature of the complaint and will respond accordingly.

3.

Complaints received via the CCTV Control Room will be recorded in the
incident/ occurrence log. A designated complaints file will be set up in order
to hold information and associated correspondence of all complaints that are
issued against the CCTV system and/or its owner. The contents of the
complaints file will be subject to the conditions and provisions of the Data
Protection legislation.

4.

Where a complaint is considered to be of a serious nature, the Director of
Community must appoint an impartial Inspector(s) who will monitor and
oversee the development of the complaint, will ensure all procedures and
guidelines are adhered to, and will make recommendations to the system’s
owner. Any person(s) who is/are appointed as an Inspector(s) must be
approved by, will be accountable to, and will act on behalf of the Director.

5.

The complainant, or complainants representatives (where applicable) will be
notified in writing of:
(a)
(b)

any significant developments that arise during the continuation of the
complaint
the resultant outcome of the complaint.

All complaints must be dealt with in strict confidentiality and with the utmost
probity.

Page 68

e:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\8\3\ai00005389\$14y4v2df.docx

Page 18 of 18

Agenda Item 3

Agenda Item No.

REPORT TO:

Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer Communities

DATE:

2nd August 2022

SERVICE AREA:

Safer Communities

REPORTING OFFICER:

Community Safety Officer
(Helen Richardson)

SUBJECT:

HARROGATE DISTRICT STREET AID: AN UPDATE
OF THE INITIATIVE TO ADDRESS THE ISSUE OF
STREET SLEEPERS AND BEGGING IN THE
HARROGATE DISTRICT.

WARD/S AFFECTED:

All District

FORWARD PLAN REF:

N/A

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To provide information to the Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer
Communities regarding the second year of ‘Harrogate Street Aid’.

1.2

To approve updating the name to ‘Harrogate District Street Aid’ reflecting it is
a district wide project.

2.0

RECOMMENDATIONS
That the Cabinet Member for Housing & Safer Communities:

2.1

approves the review of the second year of the ‘Harrogate Street Aid’ initiative

2.2

agrees to the continuation/adoption of the initiative renamed ‘Harrogate District
Street Aid’ to reflect it is district wide

2.3

agrees to the commissioning of research into the possibility of additional for
terminals across the District with a focus on Ripon and Knaresborough in
particular.

2.4

agrees to the continued development of the Publicity and Communications
plan for Street Aid.

Page 69

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASONS FOR DECISION/S

3.1

Harrogate District Street Aid continues to give a focus for agencies to work
together to support those street sleeping and begging, and a reduction has
been visible – particularly with regard to associated ASB in Harrogate town
centre.

3.2

Street aid is having a positive impact supporting vulnerable people with a
history of street sleeping in the district.

3.3

Harrogate District Street Aid continues to enhance working relationships
between the organisations involved in supporting vulnerable individuals. There
has been much positive feedback and we can continue to work together to
support those on the street or with a history of street sleeping.

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION

4.1

To not continue with the initiative – this is recommended for rejection as Street
Aid has proven to be a successful support for those street sleeping and
begging in the district. It has also heightened multi-agency work around those
street sleeping and begging.

4.2

To not agree to the re-name ‘Harrogate District Street Aid’ – this is
recommended to be rejected. It is recognised that there are people in need
across the district – it would not be possible to set up further separate Street
Aids for areas – eg Ripon Street Aid.

5.0

BACKGROUND

5.1

Harrogate Street Aid was launched 28th October 2019 – a tap terminal in Marks
and Spencer’s Oxford Street, Harrogate window and online donations. In
January 2020 applications were opened for agencies to apply for grants. In
August 2021 a second tap terminal was launched in Victoria Shopping Centre
Piazza entrance window. Harrogate BID have worked with HSBC to locate a
third terminal in the Cambridge Street branch – this is funded by HSBC
Community Fund.

5.2

The number of reported incidents of street sleepers and begging has reduced
in the time Harrogate Street Aid has been in existence. There are still some
incidents of anti-social behaviour (ASB) from those street sleeping and
begging which have caused complaints from the public and businesses. This
still requires a multi-agency approach as the individuals involved in begging
can be vulnerable.

5.3

The key aims of the initiative:
 work towards addressing the issue of street sleepers and begging
 educate the public regarding the issue of street sleepers and begging
 to raise funds centrally to disseminate to individuals via organisations
involved with homeless/street sleepers and those begging.

Page 70

2

5.4

Harrogate District Street Aid continues to support multi-agency working and is
now increasing business and public support via marketing materials,
communication and links with Harrogate Business Improvement District
(Harrogate BID).

5.5

A Working Group, made up of professionals including HBC Community Safety,
Housing, Partnership & Engagement, Communications and Elected Members,
North Yorkshire Police and Harrogate Homeless Project, continues to liaise re
begging and street sleepers in the Harrogate district. This includes finding out
who they are, their residential status, begging locations hotspots used and the
impact on the local community and businesses.

5.6

Two Ridings Community Foundation (TRCF) continue to administer Harrogate
Street Aid donations, grant applications and funding. This partnership is strong.
TRCF are able to reclaim gift aid which increases the funds available.

5.7

The Working Group identified ‘Harrogate Street Aid’ - a contactless tap
terminal and ‘on-line’ donation scheme tailored for the Harrogate district
working in partnership to create positive change.

5.8

Geography: the pilot focused on one terminal in Marks and Spencer’s Foodhall
window Oxford St Harrogate, with the funds being available to support street
sleepers and those with a history of rough sleeping in the Harrogate district.

6.0

THE REVIEW

6.1

Harrogate District Street Aid has raised valuable funds to support those street
sleeping and begging in the district. During the second year £9,830.98 was
donated via the tap terminals, online and reclaimed via gift aid. (Appendix A –
Two Ridings Statement 21-22 and Appendix B – Overview of Income, grants
and expenditure).

6.2

In the second year Harrogate District Street Aid had 17 applications for grants
which have benefitted 17 individuals. £7000.11 was given in grants to those
with a history of rough sleeping in the district. (Appendix A – Two Ridings
Statement 21-22)

6.3

Harrogate District Street Aid has helped inform partners and the wider
community regarding how to support street sleepers and those begging. It has
collated information and provided literature in several forms (paper, pdf, jpeg
for examples) to educate all. (Appendix C)

6.4

A second tap terminal was launched August 2021 in the Victoria Shopping
Centre Piazza entrance window, and plans for further possibilities in Ripon and
Knaresborough are being researched. This terminal was moved inside the
shopping centre in March 2022 as it was felt there was better footfall.

6.5

A third tap terminal was funded by HSBC Community fund with support from
Harrogate BID, this will be located inside HSBC Cambridge Street branch.

6.6

Links with local businesses and Harrogate BID have been made.

Page 71

3

6.7

Since the launch an increase in donations has been seen month on month.
Even through the Covid19 lockdown we have seen an upward trend in
donations. Appendix A gives the TRCF fund updates from March 2021 to
March 2022.

6.8

Applications for grants opened in January 2020 enabling organisations
supporting the homeless to apply for grants of up to £500 for individuals where
other funding is not available. Cash is not given directly to individuals nor is
funding available for anything that may encourage an individual to go back onto
the streets e.g. sleeping bag, tent.
Harrogate Street Aid is raising valuable funds to be used to help get people
off, and keep them off, the streets. The framework for Harrogate Street Aid
outlines the application process, criteria and timeframe for a grant from
Harrogate Street Aid. This is accessed on Two Ridings Community Foundation
(TRCF) website via www.harrogatestreetaid.co.uk

6.9

Key Achievements:
 Awarding of 17 grants in the second year reflecting an increase in grants
awarded. 27 grants supporting 28 people with a history of street
sleeping have now been awarded from the beginning of the initiative.
 Continuation of the multi-agency working group
 Identification of the location and installation of the tap terminal in Marks
and Spencer’s Foodhall window, Oxford Street, Harrogate
 Marks and Spencer continue to be a supportive partner and
ambassador for the Street Aid Project
 A second window tap terminal located in Victoria Shopping Centre
Piazza window due to good working relationship with businesses and
the shopping centre, now moved inside the shopping centre
 Continuation and development of the agreement with TRCF
 A website domain www.harrogatestreetaid.co.uk directly links to TRCF
Harrogate Street Aid page
 Specific streetaid@harrogate.gov.uk email address
 An external designer continues to produce all marketing designs –
Appendix C contains a selection of designs
 Harrogate Town Neighbourhood Policing Team carry information cards
to give to the public and those begging or sleeping on the street
(included in Appendix C). This is extended to Harrogate BID
ambassadors and Harrogate Borough Council (HBC) staff
 Marketing information distributed to Harrogate Town businesses – this
continues and widens to businesses in the Harrogate district (included
in Appendix C)
 Coordinated activities between the police and agencies involved with
street sleepers to ensure support is given
 HBC Housing Options teams continue to offer outreach to those on the
streets. In April 2022 two Rough Sleeper Coordinators were appointed
within the HBC Housing Options team plus a homeless prevention
officer
 Streamlining of the reporting process of street sleeping and begging
ensuring action continues to be taken immediately including other HBC
teams, for example street cleansing
 Other HBC teams continue to support the initiative – organising fundraising activities in aid of Street Aid, sharing promotional materials

Page 72

4















The Community Safety Hub discuss those known to be street sleeping
and begging, linking in with police and CCTV to ensure support is
available
Harrogate Town businesses have been contacted directly regarding
Street Aid and are very supportive
Harrogate BID is very supportive – sponsoring promotional activity on
bollard covers and leading with a third terminal in HSBC Cambridge
Street branch
The application and grant processes have been developed and
promoted
Delivery of a publicity campaign with further scope to develop
Cambridge Street Aid won the prestigious LA Award with the judges
commenting all LAs should adopt the initiative. York, Lancaster District
and Lichfield have also adopted Street Aid and we continue to receive
many enquiries from other local authorities
Harrogate Town Football team chose Street Aid as their chosen cause
for the last game of the season 2021 – against Cambridge City football
club so a great ‘Street Aid’ game
Harrogate BID invited the Street Aid working group to speak to their
members
A successful Street Aid workshop was held via Teams (March 2022)
involving Harrogate, Cambridge, Lancaster and York partners along
with many local agencies including IDAS, Harrogate Homeless Project,
Probation, North Yorkshire Horizons
Two new HBC staff appointed specifically to work with those with a
history of street sleeping and facing exclusion, plus a homeless
prevention officer.
The introduction of a weekly multi-agency Homeless meeting looking at
those rough sleeping and begging, and working with them to secure
accommodation. This is attended by various agencies including HBC
officers, Harrogate Homeless Project staff, police, probation, NY
Horizons

7.0.

COMMUNICATIONS AND MARKETING

7.1

Raising awareness about the Street Aid project has been crucial. This has
included the development of a series of leaflets and point of sale materials for
shops and for use on various media platforms using a clear Street Aid
branding. (Appendix C)

7.2

The Council’s Communications Team have been responsible for the
development and implementation of the Street Aid communications activity.
This has included the use of press releases, social media, contributions in the
residents’ news and the hire of a bill board.

7.3

The continued use of an external designer allowed for the creative design and
quick turnaround of the artwork and marketing designs – samples of Harrogate
District Street Aid materials can be found in Appendix C.

7.4

A Street Aid Consultation was undertaken in April 2022 by the HBC Partnership
and Engagement Team (Appendix D) which showed of those that responded:
37% had heard of Harrogate Street Aid

Page 73

5

7% had donated
72% had seen people street sleeping and begging
30% were aware of agencies that supported those street sleeping.
This was originally undertaken in 2019 when responses reflected: 39% had
heard of Harrogate Street Aid largely via local media, and 5% had donated via
the tap terminal. None had used the online donation facility, 79% had seen
people street sleeping/begging in the district and knew of organisations
available to help.
8.0

LESSONS LEARNED

8.1

Street Aid was launched on October 28th 2019. A second terminal was
launched August 2021, there are still difficulties in securing terminal locations.

8.2

Tap terminal location difficulties encountered include:
 liaising with large retailer head offices
 shop windows varying in size and depth
 large retailers have set guidelines regarding their window dressing
 electricity supply for the terminal
 the terminal metal stand height needed altering to fit the window
 wifi connectivity issues
 large retailer internet firewall security prevents wired ethernet.
These are considered for any future terminal locations.

8.3

There is a need to continually promote the application for grants process to
encourage partners to apply. A workshop was held in March 2022 to
encourage applications.

9.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS
The following were considered

9.1

Financial Implications

9.1.1 Costs of the hire of the tap terminal, TRCF administration and grant awarding
could be met via reclaimed gift-aid however all costs are covered by the £5k
allocated by HBC for Street Aid.
9.1.2 HBC allocated £10k specifying £5k is to cover further terminals and £5k for PR
support
9.2

HR Implications

9.2.1 The scheme is administered and operated by TRCF. Lead responsibility for
the overall project is with the Community Safety Team and therefore within
existing resources.
9.3

Legal Implications

9.3.1 Legal Services were consulted in relation to the preparation of this report and
have provided advice with regards to TRCF contract and terminal locations.

Page 74

6

9.4

Risk Assessment

9.4.1 A risk assessment was completed for the pilot project. This has been reviewed
for this report and updated (Appendix E). There is minimal risk associated with
this initiative. It should be noted that this initiative will not remove street
begging/street sleepers completely.
9.5

Equality and Diversity

9.5.1 An equality impact assessment has been completed to support this report
(Appendix F). The initiative has a positive impact on many of those who fall
within a protected characteristic and who may end up homeless, usually
vulnerable individuals due to their circumstances.
10.0

CONCLUSION

10.1

Harrogate Street Aid pilot was officially launched 28th October 2019. It has
raised over £20,000 (31.3.2022) and has received positive support from the
community and businesses across the Harrogate District.

10.2

17 grants have been awarded in the second year. 27 grants have been
awarded supporting 28 individuals since Street Aid was launched (31.3.2022).

10.3

The Working Group identified the initiative tailored for the Harrogate District,
working in partnership to create positive change with a strong brand being
established. Partner agencies continue to engage well and support the project.

10.4

Harrogate Street Aid is raising valuable funds for those street sleeping and
begging in the area; it also informs partners and the wider community regarding
partnership working involving street sleepers and begging.

10.5

The Cabinet Member will continue to receive regular updates regarding
progress of the Street Aid initiative.

10.6

The pilot was focused on the tap terminal in Harrogate, the pilot was successful
and we have now incorporated the District into the brand – Harrogate District
Street Aid With the future focus being on terminals across the district

10.7

Applications for grants are increasing and good news stories (anonymised) are
created for publishing once grants awarded. The scheme continues to be
promoted regarding grant applications.

OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact Helen Richardson, Community Safety Officer,
if you require any further information on the contents of this report.
The officer can be contacted at the Community Safety Team, Safer Communities,
Civic Centre, St Luke’s Mount, Harrogate, HG1 2AE, telephone – 01423 500600 Ext
58131; e-mail – helen.richardson@harrogate.gov.uk
Papers attached:
Appendix A – TRCF Yearly Report 2021-22
Appendix B – Overview of Income, Grants and Expenditure

Page 75

7

Appendix C – Harrogate District Branded Marketing Examples
Appendix D – Street Aid Consultation
Appendix E – Risk Assessment 2022
Appendix F – Equality Impact Assessment 2022

Page 76

8

The Harrogate District Street Aid Fund
Statement 1st April 2021 - 31st March 2022
The Harrogate District Street Aid Fund was launched in late October 2019. Since then,
many people have donated, both by using the contactless donation points in
Harrogate and online. As a result, the fund has continued to make awards, to benefit
individuals who are homeless in the Harrogate district and help them to get off the
streets and move forward with their lives. We are proud to be a part of Harrogate
District Street Aid, and look forward to celebrating its achievements in the future.
Thank you for your support.
At a glance...

Grants awarded 21/22: £7000.11
Number of grants awarded: 17

How have people donated?

What has been funded?

Statement:
Funds in

Funds out

Opening Balance 1st April 2021

£9,767.17

Online Donations

£3,628.00

Contactless Donations

£2,337.00

Other Income

£1,000.00

Gift Aid on Online Donations
Gift Aid on Contactless Donations

£690.00
£584.25
£7,000.11

Grants Awarded
Grants Withdrawn

£700.00

Online Transaction Fees

£116.48

Contactless Transaction Fees

£74.54

Contribution to Two Ridings

£700.01

Donation from HBC
TOTAL
Closing Balance 31st March 2022

£891.73
£9,830.98

£7,891.14
£11,707.01

Page 77

Grants awarded:
12/04/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500
Funding to purchase essential home items for a person who was homeless.
19/04/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500
Funding to purchase essential home items for a person who had been homeless.
18/05/2021 Leaving Care: £86.50
Funding to provide replacement ID for an individual who has been affected by
homelessness.
20/05/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £300.00
Funding to purchase a bike & bike lock, and a tablet for an individual who has been
rough sleeping for almost a year.
19/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £299.99
Funding to purchase essential household items for a person who has been affected by
homelessness.
23/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £324.00
Funding to purchase a bus pass to enable a person to make essential travel.
23/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500.00
Funding to provide white goods and other essential household items.
28/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £270.00
Funding to provide an individual with a bike and helmet to improve mental health.
28/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500.00
Funding to provide whitegoods and essential household items.
28/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £466.00
Funding for an individual effected by homelessness to apply for their provisional
driving license and purchase white goods and essential household items.

Page 78

28/07/2021 Harrogate Homeless Project Ltd: £541.62
Funding to purchase tools to allow an individual to return to work.
28/07/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £329.00
Funding to support an individual affected by homelessness to purchase white goods
and essential household items.
24/08/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £398.00
Funding to support an individual affected by homelessness to purchase white goods.

02/09/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £485.00 (£200.00 withdrawn)
Funding to support an individual affected by homelessness to purchase white goods.
£200 of this application was award was later kindly withdrawn by the applicant as
they had received some items from other sources.
15/10/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500.00 (£500.00 withdrawn)
Funding for gym membership to support mental health. This grant was later
withdrawn as the individual moved areas and was unable to access the funding.
22/10/2021 Harrogate Borough Council: £500.00
Funding for flooring in new home.
07/01/2022 Harrogate Borough Council: £500.00
Funding to support an individual with a long term history of homelessness to
purchase a cooker and other essential household items for a new tenancy.
17 grants given to the value of £7,000.11

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Harrogate District Street Aid Income, Grant and Expenditure 2021-2022
Item

£

Tap terminal M&S

Apr-21
189.00

May-21
129.00

Jun-21
132.00

Jul-21
171.00

Tap terminal Victoria Centre
Online donations

176.00

176.00

301.00

207.00

Aug-21

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

171.00

159

201

189

360

207

153

129

6.00

6

6

9

39

21

12

12

239.00

684

234

209

807

217

207

207

44.75
416.75

44.75
392.75

Cheques
Other donations

1000

Gift Aid - Contactless
Gift Aid - online

34.5

Monthly totals
Total online donations
Total terminal donations
Total cheques/other donations

Page 81

Total donations
Gift Aid terminal
Gift Aid online
Total gift aid
Total Income
Total grants awarded
Grants returned
Fund value 2020-21
TRCF costs )
Online transaction fees
Contactless transaction fees
Total costs (paid by HBC fund
Total fund value
Amount of grant

399.50

37
342.00

1000

386.5

66.5
499.50

15
393.00

37
453.00

146.75

89

5

120

49.75

995.75

530

412

2326

494.75

2901.61

727

485

1000

3664
2,301.00
1000
6,965.00
584.25
690.00
1274.25
8,239.25
7000.11
700.00
9767.17
700.01
116.48
74.54
891.03
11,706.31
500

This page is intentionally left blank

Harrogate District Marketing Samples:
QR codes prepared by TRCF.

Harrogate District logo

Bollard
cover,
designed by
Street Aid
designer and
sponsored
by Harrogate
BID,
including QR
code for
people to
scan and
donate.

Street Aid grant
publicity.

Harrogate Town
Football Team
sponsored their
final game of the
season against
(coincidentally)
Cambridge United.

Victoria
shopping
centre
window
terminal
launched
August
2021.

Starbeck
billboard
advertising
December
2020 and
2021.

Recent A7
cards for
partners
and
agencies to
carry to give
to public
and visitors.
Shops also
have these.

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

Harrogate Street Aid was launched 28th October 2019 and is an initiative looking into street
sleeping and begging in the Harrogate district. A Working Group consisting of Harrogate
Borough Council Community Safety and Housing Options teams, Harrogate Neighbourhood Police, Harrogate Homeless
Project, North Yorkshire Horizons, North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service and mental health providers researched to
see how best to support those on the street. Grants of up to £500 can be applied for by key workers for anything that
might support an individual get off and stay off the street. It is aimed to make real change to their lives. There is a
contactless tap terminal in the foodhall window of M&S and also in the Piazza window of Victoria Shopping Centre that
take a set £3 donation, and people can donate online via www.harrogatestreetaid.co.uk
Q1 Have you heard of Harrogate Street Aid?
Yes
No
Q1a If yes, where did you hear about it from?

Q2 Have you donated to Harrogate Street Aid
Yes
No
Q3 Are you aware of the tap terminals?
Yes
No
Q4 Have you donated on-line to Harrogate Street Aid?
Yes
No
Q5 Do you see people street sleeping and begging in Harrogate?
Yes
No
Q5a If yes, where do you see them?

Q6 Do you know of local services/organisations supporting street sleepers and those begging
Yes
No
Q6a If yes, can you list them
For more information about Harrogate Street Aid please go to www.harrogatestreetaid.co.uk

Page 85

Total responses: 151

Street Aid consultation
Partnership and Engagement Team
Q1. Have you heard of Harrogate Street Aid?
 63% (95) of respondents had not heard of
Harrogate Street Aid
 37% (55) of respondents had heard of
Harrogate Street Aid

Yes
37%

If yes, where did you hear about it?
Themed comment
Local media
Via the council
Unsure
Social media
Word of mouth
Via Marks and Spencer
Other comments

No
63%

No. of comments
17
13
9
5
4
4
3

Some free text comments have been able to be placed in more than one theme, all comments
can be found from page 5 of this report.
Q2. Have you donated to Harrogate Street Aid?
 93% (138) of respondents had not donated
to Harrogate Street Aid
 7% (11) of respondents had donated to
Harrogate Street Aid

Yes
7%

No
93%

Q3. Are you aware of the tap terminal located at Marks and Spencer?
 75% (113) of respondents are not aware of
the tap terminal located at Marks and
Spencer
Yes
 25% (37) of respondents are aware of the
25%
tap terminal located at Marks and Spencer
No
75%

Page 86

Q4. Are you aware of the tap terminal located at Victoria Shopping Centre Piazza?
 91% (137) of respondents were not aware
of the tap terminal located at Victoria
Shopping Centre Piazza
Yes
 9% (13) of respondents were aware of the
9%
tap terminal located at Victoria Shopping
Centre Piazza
No
91%

Q5. Have you donated online to Harrogate Street Aid?
All respondents stated they have not donated online to Harrogate Street Aid.
Q6. Do you see people street sleeping and begging in Harrogate?
 72% (108) of respondents have seen street
sleeping and begging in Harrogate
 28% (42) of respondents have not seen
street sleeping and begging in Harrogate

No
28%

If yes, where do you see them?
Location
Between James St and
Cambridge St
Shopping area
Outside McDonalds
Marks and Spencer
St Peters Church
Oxford St
Other comments
Other locations (away from
central Harrogate)
Parliament St
Outside HSBC
Outside Asda
Outside Specsaver

No. of comments
49

Yes
72%

26
12
11
7
7
7
7
2
2
1
1

Some free text comments have been able to be placed in more than one theme, all comments
can be found from page 5 of this report.

Page 87

Q7. Do you know of any local services/organisations supporting individuals who are street
sleeping and begging?
 70% (105) of respondents did not know of
any local services organisations supporting
Yes
individuals who are street sleeping and
30%
begging
 30% (44) of respondents do know of any
No
local services organisations supporting
70%
individuals who are street sleeping and
begging
If yes, can you list them?

Themed comments
Harrogate Homeless Project
Other comments
Food Bank
St Peters Church
Bower Road Hostel
Unsure
Fern House

No. of comments
27
6
5
5
4
4
3

Themed comments
Harrogate Borough Council
Samaritans
Salvation Army
St Georges Crypt
Citizens Advice
Women’s Refuge
Shelter

No. of comments
3
2
2
1
1
1
1

Some free text comments have been able to be placed in more than one theme, all comments
can be found from page 5 of this report.
Q8. What is your gender?
 52% (78) of respondents were male
 47% (70) of respondents were female
 7% (1) preferred not to say
Prefer not
to say
1%
Male
52%

Q9. Which age category are you in?
 48% (72) of respondents were 60 to 74
 33% (50) of respondents were 45 to 59
 16% (24) of respondents were 75 to 89

Prefer not to say

2

90+

1

Female
47%

75 to 89

24

60 to 74

72

45 to 59

50

30 to 44

1
0

Page 88

Q10. Do you consider that you have a
disability under the Equality Act?
 89% (131) of respondents did not have a

20

40

60

80

Q11. How would you identify your ethnicity?
 96% (144) of respondents were white
British

White
other
2%

White Irish
1%

Yes
10%
Prefer not
to say
1%
No
89%

Q12. What is your religion/belief?
 67% (98) of respondents were Christian
(all denominations)
 27% (39) of respondents had no religion

Q13. What is your relationship status?
 70% (105) of respondents were married
 8% (12) of respondents were single
 7% (10) of respondents were widowed

Widowed

Prefer not to say

5

10

Single

No religion

Prefer not
to say
1%

White
British
96%

39

12

Separated

4

Prefer not to say

4

Married

Christian (all
denominations)

98

Any other religion/belief

5
0

20

105

Living with partner

6

Divorced/dissolved

8

Civil partnership
40

60

80 100 120

Q14. Which of the following best describes
how you think of yourself?
 96% (144) of respondents were
heterosexual
 3% (5) of respondents preferred not to
say
Other
1%

1
0

20

40

60

100 120

Q15. Is you gender identity the same as the
gender you were originally assigned at
birth?
 97% (143) of respondents stated yes
 3% (5) of respondents preferred not to
state

Prefer not
to say
3%

Heterosex
ual
96%

80

Prefer not
to say
3%

Yes
97%

FREE Text Responses
Q1. Have you heard of Harrogate Street Aid? If yes, where did you hear about it?
Page 89
All comments written as submitted by respondents.
Local media (17 comments)

General news outlets
Harrogate Advertiser
harrogate advertiser
Harrogate Advertiser
I can’t recall but have been aware since the launch. Possibly Knaresborough Post.
Local media, Twitter
Local news eg Stray Ferret, Harrogate Informer, Harrogate Advertiser
Local newspaper.
Local Newspapers
Local paper and also people involved
Local paper, council website
Media
news paper
Newspaper
Radio
Read about it, cannot remember where
stray ferret
Via the council (13 comments)
Council emails
From your newsletters
Harrogate Borough Council email of local news
Harrogate Council email
Harrogate newsletter by email
HBC news letter
HBC newsletter
Email
HBC website
THROUGHT THE COUNCIL MY INVOVMENT
via council newsletter
publicity at launch time
Through this survey
Unsure (9 comments)
Can’t remember
Can’t remember
Cannot remember
Cannot remember
Can't remember
Don't know
Can't remember. Local press or HBC newsletter probably. I was interested as I used to be aware of
similar schemes in other towns/cities when I was working in the Magistrates' Courts.
Not sure
Not sure.
Social media (5 comments)
Facebook
Local media, Twitter
Social Media
Social media
Various places on line in news feeds
Word of mouth (4 comments)
Friend

Page 90

Local people discussing it.
Locals
Word of mouth
Via Marks and Spencer (4 comments)
From someone in M & S when they saw us give to a beggar outside
Saw the machine outside M&S
Shop window
The Tap Terminal at M&S.
Other comments (3 comments)
I have heard that they offer support to rough sleepers and people in trouble on the streets - and
sometimes act as a signpost to get people to the place where they can get help
Through church
Homeless in Harrogate
Q6. Do you see people street sleeping and begging in Harrogate? If yes, where did you see them?
All comments written as submitted by respondents.
Between James Street and Cambridge Street (49 comments)
Around Cambridge Street
Around Mc Donald’s, at the top of the Ginnel on a night, In the cut through between James Street and
Cambridge Street.
Beside Trespass and Monsoon
Begging in passageway between James Street and Cambridge Street
Area between market square and James Street, Oxford Street, Cambridge Street. Asda.
Back James Street, McDonald's, Mark's and Spencer
Between James Street & Victoria Centre
Between james Street and Market Place.
Between James Street and the Market Place - quite a while a go as do not go into town often.
By M&S and in the cut through to Oxford street by Monsoon
Cambribge street
Along the high street, between Accessorize and Trespass, around St Peter’s Church and between
MacDonalds & the Theatre
Cambridge Street
Cambridge Street
CAMBRIDGE Street
Cambridge Street area
Cross James Street
Cross James Street. However I do not visit Harrogate very often now and the situation might have
changed in recent weeks.
Ginnel between James street and Market Place.
Ginnel by Monsoon, Cambridge Street, Oxford Street
Near monsoon
Near Monsoon
Cambridge St. Ginnel at side of Monsoon. Opposite Superdrug.
Cambridge street Outside Betty’s Link between James street & Cambridge street
In alley between James St. And Market Place during day don't walk through town at night
In the alley way near Monsoon
In the ginnel between James Street and the Victoria Shopping Centre.
In the ginnel just off James Street
In the ginnel that runs between James Street and the Market Place
In the walkway down the side of Monsoon and sometimes on main thoroughfares in Harrogate town
centre.
James Street occasionally and the ginnel beside
Monsoon.
Page
91 I no longer live in Harrogate
(Knaresborough now) so am not as aware of rough sleeping or begging as I was.
McDonalds Trespass Shop

Mostly in the ally between North Face and Monsoon.
near sportds direct
near sports direct
Near McDonalds / Jams street
Market Place; Oxford Street; Cambridge Place
Near Monsoon, St Peters church, Cambridge Street empty shop doorway
Near the Victoria Centre
Off James Street in cut through to Cambridge Street and on Leeds Road outside the Co-op
Outside Boots /M&S / and the ally way through to Monsoon.... Leeds Rd outside the CoOp
Outside Monsoon in the alley way.
Outside Monsoon or opposite Revolution de Cuba
Rear of Primark Rear of Victoria centre Shelters along Stray Debenhams
Side of Monsoons
small alley off James Street
The alley connecting James Street with the Square beyond. Any empty shop doorway in the Town
centre is vulnerable.
the alley next to Monsoon and various shop doorways.
Town centre/at side of monsoon
Shopping area (26 comments)
Around the central shopping area
Main presinct
Main shopping areas
Mainly around town
Mainly in the centre of town
In Harrogate Town
Mostly old shop doorways but not as much in Harrogate as other places and don’t go into town as
often now
In shopping area in town
In the doorways of out of business shops and in the pedestrian areas downtown
Near the main shops
Shop doorway
Shop doorways
Shop doorways
Shop doorways
Shop doorways
On all the main shopping streets
Outside St Peter’s, Bettys and in many shop doorways.
ROUND BY THE ENTEY SHOPS NEAR VICTIROA GARDEN S
Town centre
Town centre
Town centre retail strrte
The alley connecting James Street with the Square beyond. Any empty shop doorway in the Town
centre is vulnerable.
the alley next to Monsoon and various shop doorways.
Various alleys don’t know the names
Various locations around the town centre
Various places in the town centre
Outside McDonalds (12 comments)
Around Mc Donald’s, at the top of the Ginnel on a night, In the cut through between James Street and
Cambridge Street.
All over town mainly in door ways in the centre.
I don’t
Page
92believe half of them are homeless it’s just a
business to them. I saw a bloke who decorated our house begging in the street. They all smoke and
have mobile phones it’s a joke. Try outside McDonalds.

Back James Street, McDonald's, Mark's and Spencer
Back of Primark/ Mcdonalds
Along the high street, between Accessorize and Trespass, around St Peter’s Church and between
MacDonalds & the Theatre
McDonalds and near Boots
McDonalds Trespass Shop
Near McDonalds / Jams street
Near St Peters church and Macdonalds area
Nr McDonalds
In shop doorways, on the covered seats adjacent to the library, on the steps of St Peter's church and
in the area around McDonalds at night, under the 'One Arch' next to the station.
Outside McDonalds
Marks and Spencer (11 comments)
Back of marks and spencer
Back of M&S
Back James Street, McDonald's, Mark's and Spencer
By M&S and in the cut through to Oxford street by Monsoon
Down the side next to Boots, outside back of M &S
McDonalds and near Boots
Near the theatre.
Opposite Yorks Bank, by M&S
Outside Boots /M&S / and the ally way through to Monsoon.... Leeds Rd outside the CoOp
Outside M&S
Outside Marks and Spencers
St Peters Church (7 comments)
Near Monsoon, St Peters church, Cambridge Street empty shop doorway
Along the high street, between Accessorize and Trespass, around St Peter’s Church and between
MacDonalds & the Theatre
Near St Peters church and Macdonalds area
In shop doorways, on the covered seats adjacent to the library, on the steps of St Peter's church and
in the area around McDonalds at night, under the 'One Arch' next to the station.
Opposite York bank Outside st Peters Churck
Outside St Peter’s, Bettys and in many shop doorways.
St. Peters church steps.
Oxford Street (7 comments)
Area between market square and James Street, Oxford Street, Cambridge Street. Asda.
Along the high street, between Accessorize and Trespass, around St Peter’s Church and between
MacDonalds & the Theatre
Ginnel by Monsoon, Cambridge Street, Oxford Street
Market Place; Oxford Street; Cambridge Place
outside primark
Oxford Street
Rear of Primark Rear of Victoria centre Shelters along Stray Debenhams
Other comments (7 comments)
All over town mainly in door ways in the centre. I don’t believe half of them are homeless it’s just a
business to them. I saw a bloke who decorated our house begging in the street. They all smoke and
have mobile phones it’s a joke. Try outside McDonalds.
Can't remember
Empty shop doorways
Harrogate
Page 93
In the general traffic-free area

Occasionally on the back streets of Harrogate Town Centre. I acknowledge that there are fewer now
than before Street Aid was started. I woiuld be very pleased to report them as I see them if I where to
have a direct telephone number to Street Aid for this purpose.
Sorry I am not often in Harrogate
Other locations (away from central Harrogate) (7 comments)
All over town mainly in door ways in the centre. I don’t believe half of them are homeless it’s just a
business to them. I saw a bloke who decorated our house begging in the street. They all smoke and
have mobile phones it’s a joke. Try outside McDonalds.
Can't remember
Empty shop doorways
Harrogate
In the general traffic-free area
Occasionally on the back streets of Harrogate Town Centre. I acknowledge that there are fewer now
than before Street Aid was started. I woiuld be very pleased to report them as I see them if I where to
have a direct telephone number to Street Aid for this purpose.
Sorry I am not often in Harrogate
Parliament Street (2 comments)
Parliament street
Rear of Primark Rear of Victoria centre Shelters along Stray Debenhams
Outside HSBC (2 comments)
Near HSBC
Near HSBC camp
Outside Asda (1 comment)
Area between market square and James Street, Oxford Street, Cambridge Street. Asda.
Outside Specsaver (1 comment)
Near specsavers.
Q7. Do you know of any local services/organisations supporting individuals who are street
sleeping and begging? If yes, can you list them?
All comments written as submitted by respondents.
Harrogate Homeless Project (27 comments)
Harrogate homeless project
Harrogate Homeless
Harrogate Homeless
Harrogate Homeless
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate Homeless project
Harrogate homeless project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate homeless project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate homeless project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Harrogate Homeless Project
Bower Rd hostel not sure if Robert St hostel still operates and recently heard of new centre in Starbeck
COUNCIL homeless HOSTEL OUT REACH
Food bank samarirans, Homeless projrct, St peters Chuch and other churches
Harrogate Homeless project Harrogate Borough Council
Page 94
Harrogate Homeless Project, St Peter's breakfast club. Harrogate Borough Council.
Harrogate Homeless Project. The former owner of Greenwoods?

Harrogate Homeless project. Trussel Trust.
Harrogate Homeless Project?
Harrogate homeless shelter, St Peter’s breakfast club,
Harrogate Homeless St George's Crypt
Homeless hostel, Dragon Parade? Salvation Army.
Homeless Project, Harrogate.
Other comments (6 comments)
Harrogate Homeless Project. The former owner of Greenwoods?
I know a lot about Harrogate Homeless and various work the St Peters offers plus other Churches
(Resurrection Food)... However, I do not think there is a joined up program to deal with those that are
rough sleeping and begging. There was a Street map off all the services pulled together a few years
ago - but I am sure that was ignored. When I see what happens in other Cities and towns Harrogate is
Lacking!
Resirected Bites in Knaresborough who help with food Stockwell rd Knaresborough have
accommodations for people who need help
Social Services, local churches, local homeless projects
YMCA, Samaritans, Big Issue
The Wesley chapel
Food Bank (5 comments)
Food bank samarirans, Homeless projrct, St peters Chuch and other churches
Harrogate Homeless project. Trussel Trust.
Harrogate Street Aid. Food bank
Resirected Bites food bank Salvation Army
Resirected Bites in Knaresborough who help with food Stockwell rd Knaresborough have
accommodations for people who need help
St Peters Church (5 comments)
Food bank samarirans, Homeless projrct, St peters Chuch and other churches
Harrogate Homeless Project, St Peter's breakfast club. Harrogate Borough Council.
Harrogate homeless shelter, St Peter’s breakfast club,
I know a lot about Harrogate Homeless and various work the St Peters offers plus other Churches
(Resurrection Food)... However, I do not think there is a joined up program to deal with those that are
rough sleeping and begging. There was a Street map off all the services pulled together a few years
ago - but I am sure that was ignored. When I see what happens in other Cities and towns Harrogate is
Lacking!
St Peter’s Church
Bower Road Hostel (4 comments)
Bower Rd hostel not sure if Robert St hostel still operates and recently heard of new centre in Starbeck
Homeless hostel in Bower Rd
Homeless hostel, Dragon Parade? Salvation Army.
The homeless shelter near one arch
Unsure (4 comments)
Don’t know what they are
no
No. Sorry. I feel guilty now.
Sorry forgot the name
Fern House (3 comments)
Bower Rd hostel not sure if Robert St hostel still operates and recently heard of new centre in
Starbeck
COUNCIL homeless HOSTEL OUT REACH
Page 95
Hostel in Starbeck, women’s refuges
Harrogate Borough Council (3 comments)

Harrogate Homeless project Harrogate Borough Council
Harrogate Homeless Project, St Peter's breakfast club. Harrogate Borough Council.
Harrogate Street Aid. Food bank
Samaritans (2 comments)
Food bank Samaritans, Homeless project, St peters Church and other churches
St George’s Crypt (1 comment)
Harrogate Homeless St George's Crypt
Citizens Advice (1 comment)
Citizens Advice
Women Refuge (1 comment)
Hostel in Starbeck, women’s refuges
Shelter (1 comment)
Shelter

Page 96

Harrogate Borough Council Street Aid Risk Register April 2022
Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:

Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA001
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleeping in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging
HSA Finance (1)
Lack of funding/donations
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support. The
initiative achieved the required donations. Work is being undertaken to
increase the number of applications from eligible applicants as the
numbers could be increased
Increased contribution from the Community Safety Reserve Initiative will
not continue after the pilot. Negative publicity received. Lack of
applications and funding not distributed.
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Funding for pilot agreed from the Community Fund of the Office of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
Cost estimates developed with sensitivity analysis of best and worst case scenarios
Any shortfall covered by Community Safety Reserve in the pilot year
No grants will be paid until there is enough funding available and if funds fall below £500 no grants will be
awarded until fund exceeds £500
No grants will be paid until 2 months after the introduction of the initiative to provide time for donations to be
received
OPFCC Grant covers hire of terminals and publicity
Working closely with businesses, residents and public showing support for street sleepers
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Work continues with HBC colleagues/partners to support appropriate applications
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner
Future funding possibilities Harrogate BID has shown interest in
23/10/2020
providing financial support and
resources in the future
Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Procedures:
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Reassessment Period:
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Page 97

Total Impact
1 - Small

Gross Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
1 - Unlikely
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Risk assessed 29 April 2022

Page 98

Total Assessment
1

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA002
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support begging and street sleepers in the area to help
them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all regarding
street sleepers and begging
HSA Administration
Increased financial/administration responsibility/risk to HBC
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support.
Organisations that work with rough sleepers and those begging can apply
for grants from the donations received. Two Ridings Community
Foundation will hold money received and administer grants awarded.
There have been some unforseen issues to deal with including WiFi
connectivity and therefore increased administration requirements,
however these have decreased as Two Ridings have addressed issues
arising.
Increased contribution from resources within Community Safety
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Two Ridings Community Foundation will hold all monies and administer the grants awarded HBC will not have the
responsibility for the money
Legal agreement with TRCF and LibertyPay
LibertyPay will rent the terminals to the Council and invoicing will be sent to HBC and has been accounted for in
the OPFCC Grant
Quarterly meetings with TRCF
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Improved WiFi connection arrangements (SIM card) to reduce potential problems with existing terminal
Additional reporting arrangements being agreed with Two Ridings
If additional terminals are agreed management arrangements with individual shops to be used
Potential for Harrogate BID to take over lead role
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner
Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Procedures:
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Reassessment Period:
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
2 - Moderate

Gross Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely
Page 99

Total Assessment
2

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
1 - Unlikely
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
1 - Small

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Two Ridings have taken an increased
role and this risk has therefore
decreased in impact. Risk assessed 29
April 2022

Page 100

Total Assessment
1

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA003
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleeping in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging
Achievement of Objectives
Failure to achieve initiative objectives
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support.
Organisations that work with rough sleepers and those begging can apply
for grants from the donations received. Two Ridings Community
Foundation holds money received and administer grants awarded.
Increased negative publicity/reputational risk
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Working closely with businesses, residents and public showing support for street sleepers
Quarterly meetings with TRCF
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Building strong publicity materials to share via different media
Use lessons learnt from other areas and develop positive messages about helping those on the street
Grants are paid after verification by HBC
TRCF will gain feedback and produce good news stories for publicity purposes
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Gross Score
Likelihood
3 - Likely

Total Assessment
9

Label
Amber

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Target Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
Page 101
1 - Unlikely
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe
Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely
Accept
Initiative is going well and achieving
objectives. Risk assessed 29 April 2022

Page 102

Total Assessment
3

Last Assessment Date

Label
Green

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA004
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleepers in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging.
HBC Reputation
Increased reputational risk through negative publicity
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support.
Organisations that work with rough sleepers and those begging can apply
for grants from the donations received. Two Ridings Community
Foundation will hold money received and administer grants awarded.
Individuals will not benefit directly as they cannot be given cash and
funding will not support living on the street such as tents or sleeping
bags. The initiative could be seen by those making the donation as taking
money away from those they want to help on the street. Reliance on
organisations receiving the grants to work with those on the streets.
Increased negative publicity/reputational risk
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Working closely with businesses, residents and public showing support for street sleepers
Quarterly meetings with TRCF
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Building strong publicity materials to share via different media
Use lessons learnt from other areas and develop positive messages about helping those on the street
Grants are paid after verification by HBC
TRCF will gain feedback and produce good news stories for publicity purposes
Increased joint working with Police and partner organisations to raise awareness of other measures in place to
support those on the street
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner
Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Procedures:
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Reassessment Period:
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Gross Score
Likelihood
3 - Likely

Page 103

Total Assessment
9

Label
Amber

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Target Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
1 - Unlikely
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Initiative is working well and achieving
objectives. Risk assessed 29 April 2022

Page 104

Total Assessment
3

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA005
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleepers in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging
Recipient organisations
Failure of recipient organisations to deliver.
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support. The
initiative has been successful in receiving donations. Organisations that
work with rough sleepers and those begging can apply for grants from
the donations received. Two Ridings Community Foundation will hold
money received and administer grants awarded. Individuals will not
benefit directly as they cannot be given cash and funding will not support
living on the street such as tents or sleeping bags. The initiative could be
seen by those making the donation as taking money away from those
they want to help on the street. Reliance on organisations receiving the
grants to work with those on the streets.
Increased negative publicity/reputational risk
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Working closely with businesses, residents and public showing support for street sleepers
Quarterly meetings with TRCF
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Building strong publicity materials to share via different media
Use lessons learnt from other areas and develop positive messages about helping those on the street
Grants are paid after verification by HBC
TRCF will gain feedback and produce good news stories for publicity purposes
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Gross Score
Likelihood
3 - Likely
Target Score
Page
105

Total Assessment
9

Label
Amber

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
1 - Unlikely
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Risk assessed 29 April 2022

Page 106

Total Assessment
3

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA006
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleepers in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging.
Governance
Lack of clear governance arrangements
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving. The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support.
Organisations that work with rough sleepers and those begging can apply
for grants from the donations received. Two Ridings Community
Foundation will hold money received and administer grants awarded.
Individuals will not benefit directly as they cannot be given cash and
funding will not support living on the street such as tents or sleeping
bags. The initiative could be seen by those making the donation as taking
money away from those they want to help on the street. Reliance on
organisations receiving the grants to work with those on the streets.
When LGR is implemented governance arrangements will need to be
established with North Yorkshire Council
Increased negative publicity/reputational risk. Failure to achieve
objectives. No/unclear governance arrangements.
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Quarterly meetings with TRCF
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Grants are paid after verification by HBC
Additional reports for monitoring finance are being requested from TRCW
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner

Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Procedures:
Reassessment Period:

Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Total Impact

Gross Score
Likelihood
3 - Likely
Target Score
LikelihoodPage 107

Total Assessment
9

Label
Amber

Total Assessment

Label

3 - Severe

1 - Unlikely

3

Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
1 - Unlikely
3

Label
Green

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Appetite Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Label
Green

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Governance arrangements have been
clearly developed. Risk assessed 29
April 2022

Page 108

Total Assessment
3

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Risk Number:
Risk Level/Service:
Risk Category:
Objective/Dependency /Deliverable:

Risk Name:
Risk Description:
Cause:

Impact/Consequence:
Primary Owner:
Additional Owners:
Timescale:
Classification:

SCHSA007
Community, Safer Communities, Community Safety and CCTV, Harrogate
Street Aid
Programme/Project, Service Plan
To raise funds to support those begging and street sleepers in the area to
help them get off, and stay off, the streets. It will also inform all
regarding street sleepers and begging
HSA Finance (2)
Lack of applications, therefore unspent funding
The number of reported incidents of begging and street sleepers is low
compared to larger cities. North Yorkshire Police use a range of powers
to enforce incidents of anti-social and drunken behaviour linked to
begging and street sleepers often getting negative response from those
giving The ‘Street Aid’ model utilises an online and a tap terminal
(contactless) scheme which offers a donation platform for the area as
well as educating the public about the true picture of begging/street
sleepers in the area and the organisations available for support. The
initiative has been piloted for 12 months and achieved the required
donations however there have been no applications
Initiative will not continue after the pilot. Negative publicity received.
Objectives not achieved.
Julia Stack
Secondary Owner:
Helen Richardson

Short Term (up to one year)
Economic
Controls
Control
1-2-1 with Director
Funding for pilot agreed from the Community Fund of the Office of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
Cost estimates developed with sensitivity analysis of best and worst case scenarios
Any shortfall covered by Community Safety Reserve in the pilot year
No grants will be paid until there is enough funding available and if funds fall below £500 no grants will be
awarded until fund exceeds £500
No grants will be paid until 2 months after the introduction of the initiative to provide time for donations to be
received
OPFCC Grant covers hire of terminals and publicity
Working closely with businesses, residents and public showing support for street sleepers
Evaluation/review after 3, 6 and 9 months to initiate remedial actions if required
Working with appropriate organisations to encourage applications
Identifying appropriate application opportunities and discussing with appropriate organisations
Increased publicity about Street Aid targeted at appropriate organisations
Work has started with HBC colleagues/partners to support appropriate applications
Proposed Controls
Proposed Control
Target Implementation Date
Owner
Links:
Review, Report and Escalation
Working Group established. Community Safety Management Team
Procedures:
Monthly meetings. Cabinet Member meetings.
Reassessment Period:
Quarterly
Risk Assessment

Total Impact
3 - Severe

Gross Score
Likelihood
4 - Almost Certain

Page 109

Total Assessment
12

Label
Red

Total Impact
1 - Small

Target Score
Likelihood
1 - Unlikely

Total Assessment
1

Label
Green

Total Impact
2 - Moderate

Net Score (Current)
Likelihood
Total Assessment
2 - Possible
4

Label
Amber

Total Impact
2 - Moderate

Appetite Score
Likelihood
2 - Possible

Label
Amber

Risk Response
Overall Risk Owner
Comments

Accept
Work has started to increase the
number of applications. Risk assessed
29 April 2022

Page 110

Total Assessment
4

Last Assessment Date

29/04/2022

Equality Impact Analysis

If you need any guidance or assistance completing your Equality
Impact Analysis contact Emma McIntosh (Engagement Officer)
emma.mcintosh@harrogate.gov.uk

The equality impact analysis (EIA) process ensures that we do not
disadvantage customers and staff who have Protected
Characteristics (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010guidance). In addition to publishing equality information every year
the EIA is the council’s main way of ensuring we meet our Statutory
Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010.

*Evidence could include information from consultations; voluntary
group feedback; satisfaction and usage data (i.e. complaints,
surveys, and service data); and reviews of previous strategies
YOUR GUIDE TO COMPLETING AN EQUALITY IMPACT
ANALYSIS

It is important to consider the equality impact before designing or
changing a policy, project or service in any way. You should
complete an EIA when considering any sized project which will
impact people including:

Page 111












Section 1
In Section 1 identify background information to the policy, project or
service you are analysing.

Developing a service specification
Commissioning a service
Providing a new service to residents
New staff working procedure
Refreshing and updating a policy
Removal of service
Developing a strategy
Changing a service
As part of consultation process
Changes to services delivered jointly with other agencies

Section 2
In Section 2 highlight any likely impact on equalities as a result of the
policy, project or service. You must have evidence* to support this.
Impacts can be positive and negative
Section 3
Create an action plan which explains what you will be doing as a
result of carrying out this analysis
Section 4
The responsible officer (completing this assessment) must now
check the analysis and sign Section 4 and have the relevant senior
manager also check and approve this analysis, and sign the relevant
part of Section 4. Monitor and review your policy, project or service
once it has been implemented to ensure any future adverse effects
are mitigated. Ensuring the Equality Impact Analysis is kept up to
date will from a core part of this.

There are 4 sections to this Equality Impact Analysis. Answer all the
sections and questions. If you are unable to answer any questions
this indicates you need more work so that you can answer the
question with confidence and evidence*.

1

SECTION 1
Name of activity/policy/project/decision/function being
assessed
Aims of policy/project/service

Is this new or existing?
Who is responsible for policy or decision, or advising
on decision, and also responsible for this equality
analysis
What customer/profile data have you already got?
What does it tell you about who is currently
using/accessing the service?

Page 112

What information/evidence do you have on current
and future service users and what impact could the
change make?
What consultation (either new for the purpose of this
change or carried out previously, but relevant) has
been carried out to engage service users on the
change?
Who are the customers/Stakeholders of the service?
List the information and evidence you are using to
inform this equality analysis.
Summarise the key findings of the information listed
above

Harrogate Street Aid - A proposal to address the issue of begging and street sleepers
in the Harrogate area.
To address issue of begging and street sleeping in Harrogate district, provide a
donation initiative to support those begging and street sleeping, and educate people
regarding the services offered.
Existing
Julia Stack
Helen Richardson
NY police log
HHP monthly data
CCTV data
No one currently accessing the service as it is proposed and not current.
Information from partnership agencies including police, Safer Neighbourhood,
housing options, Harrogate Homeless Project, Horizons. The proposal will raise funds
to directly support those on the begging and street sleeping turn a corner and stay off.
A Working Group set up to look into the issue of street sleepers and begging in the
area. Other large towns and cities were also researched (York, Nottingham, London
and Cambridge). Businesses, residents, visitor comments have been addressed.
Once Cabinet approval given the beggars and street sleepers will be involved in the
potential for grant making and supporting them staying off the streets.
Beggars and street sleepers, residents, visitors, businesses, partnership agencies.
HHP data, CCTV survey, NYP log, correspondence from businesses and residents,
previous media coverage.
This proposal will have a positive effect on all characteristics – it does not
discriminate.

2

SECTION 2
Do you have enough information to complete section 2? If not then you will need to complete some engagement/research with the service area
to know your customer
2.1 Negative Impact?
Is the likely effect to be
negative on any of the
Protected Characteristics
listed below (please mark
all that apply)
Yes
No
Age
X
X

Gender reassignment
Pregnancy
and
maternity
Race

X

Religion or
belief

X

Page 113

Disability

Please describe the effect and evidence that How will you ensure the negative impact is
supports this*
removed?
Copy into the action plan

X

X

Sex
X
Sexual
X
Orientation
Marriage/
X
Civil
partnerships
*Evidence could include information from consultations; voluntary group feedback; satisfaction and usage data (i.e. complaints, surveys, and
service data); and reviews of previous strategies.

3

2.2 How are you going to address any negative impact?
Which of the options below best describes how you are going to
address the impact described above?

Answer

1. No major change - the Equality Impact Analysis demonstrates that
Research and preparation have made this a robust proposal. If
the policy is robust and that the evidence shows no potential for
needed we will adjust the policy to better promote equality and look
discrimination and that all opportunities to promote equality have been for opportunities to promote equality.
taken.
2. Adjust the policy to remove barriers or better promote equality.
3. Continue the policy despite potential for adverse impact or missed
opportunities to promote equality.

Page 114

4. Urgent action must be taken if the policy shows actual or potential
unlawful discrimination contact Emma McIntosh, Engagement Officer

4

2.3. Positive Impact?

Disability

X

Gender reassignment

X

Pregnancy
and
maternity
Race

X

Religion or
belief

X

Sex

X

Sexual
Orientation

X

Page 115

Age

Is the likely effect to
be positive (please
mark all that apply
Yes
No
X

X

Marriage/
X
Civil
partnerships

Provide examples of good equality practice or
benefits to people with protected characteristics
arising from the implementation of this
service/policy etc
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).
Funds will be available to support all – it does
not allow cash to be given to the individual but
does not discriminate (over 16yrs).

5

How will you promote equality and
communicate good practice?
Copy into the action plan in Section 3
Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

Via the criteria for application.

What measures does and could the policy include to promote equality and foster good The criteria states all those who are begging
relations
and street sleeping to be considered – this
will facilitate further grants to support any of
the listed characteristics if needed.
SECTION 3
ACTION PLAN
The Public Sector Equality Duty is also a continuing duty, requiring attention and a review of decisions post-implementation. Therefore, every
Equality Impact Analysis should result in an action plan that sets out the arrangements for reviewing the actual impact of a new policy or
changes to an existing policy once it has been implemented.
The action plan could include actions in the following categories:

Page 116

•
•
•
•

Involvement and consultation;
Further data collection and evidence gathering;
mitigating disproportionate or adverse impact; and/or
taking any opportunity to advance equality and foster good relations.

You can produce the action plan by using the template below or by creating one on Covalent. This link provides guidance on producing an
action plan in Covalent or through service planning.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7

Action
To continue to involve and consult organisations involved with beggars and
street sleepers
Ensure the working group continues to look at the issues
Present findings to the Leader of the Council and working group
Develop report for cabinet member
Promote Harrogate District Street Aid (HSA)
Invite applications for the fund
Review ‘Good News’ stories where grants paid

6

By when
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing
Yearly July/August
Ongoing
Ongoing
Ongoing

SECTION 4
Based on the information in section 2, what is the decision of the responsible officer (please select one option below):
Tick here
No negative equality impact (your analysis shows there is no impact) - sign assessment below
[ ]
Please summarise your responses here …………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
Adverse impact but continue (record objective justification for continuing despite the impact)-complete sections below
[ ]
This EIA had been checked and
approved by responsible officer (sign
and print name)
This EIA has been checked and
approved by senior manager (sign and
print name)

Date

Date

Page 117

(1) Attach your completed Equality Impact Analysis to your decision/recommendation report
(2) Please send the completed Equality Impact Analysis to Emma McIntosh, Engagement Officer, emma.mcintosh@harrogate.gov.uk
(3) Upload the completed Equality Impact Analysis to the relevant service improvement action on covalent

Date of Equality Impact Analysis Review: ………………………………………………….
Even after your activity/policy/project/decision/function has been implemented; it is recommended that analysis is undertaken every three years,
and that this analysis is updated at any significant points in between. The purpose of any update is that the actual effects will only be known after
the implementation of your policy, project or service. Additionally, area demographics could change, leading to different needs, alternative
provision can become available, or new options to reduce an adverse effect could become apparent.

7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Agenda Item No.

REPORT TO:

Cabinet Member Housing and Safer Communities

DATE:

16 May 2022

SERVICE AREA:

Safer Communities

REPORTING OFFICER:

Head of Safer Communities (Dean Richardson)

SUBJECT:

Update Of Sandbag Policy

WARD/S AFFECTED:

ALL DISTRICT

FORWARD PLAN REF:

N/A

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To seek endorsement of the updated HBC Sandbag Policy.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION

2.1

To endorse the updated HBC Sandbag Policy.

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASON FOR DECISION

3.1

To endorse the continued support to the communities within Harrogate
district with the provision of sandbags to residents at imminent risk of
flooding.

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTION CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION

4.1

Discontinue the provision of sandbags to residents. There is no statutory
duty to do so, however impacts on supporting residents who may become
displaced would place additional statutory duties on the authority that
outweigh the possible preventative measure of sandbag deployment.

5.0

THE REPORT

5.1

Harrogate Borough Council has maintained a policy of providing sandbags
to residents at immediate risk of flooding in support of the most vulnerable
during a flood event. The original policy appears to have been absorbed into
‘Customer Service Action pages.

5.2

Harrogate Borough Council has enjoyed a close relationship with its most
vulnerable flood risk communities. Working together we have developed a
network of sandbag stores in key risk areas, allowing for a responsive

Page 119

1

deployment by the community. This in turn results in a better understanding
of the local risk areas and provides a local level of control over the assets.
5.3

There is a central sandbag store at the Claro Road depot which allows the
council to deploy directly with sandbags if we have to respond to calls for
assistance.

5.4

The updated policy provides greater clarity around the process for sandbag
deployment and can be used to support enquiries from staff, members and
the public around sandbag use. This will also allow clearer understanding
for transition through LGR to the new council, clearly outlining our current
arrangements.

6.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The following were considered: Financial; Human Resources; Legal and ICT
implications; Strategic Property/Asset Management Considerations; Risk
Assessment; Equality and Diversity (the Public Sector Equality Duty and
impact upon people with protected characteristics). If applicable, the
outcomes of any consultations, assessments, considerations and
implications considered necessary during preparation of this report.

7.0

CONCLUSIONS

7.1

This Policy has been updated to reflect the developed approach that has
been adopted by HBC for the distribution of sandbags in support of the most
vulnerable during a flood event. By empowering communities while also still
retaining a response ourselves, we potentially reduce the additional impacts
to the authority of supporting displaced communities. While sandbags may
not be the most effective means of flood mitigation, they can support the
response and can have a positive impact both reputationally and on local
morale through engagement with the council during times of need.
Background Papers – None.

OFFICER CONTACT: Please contact Dean Richardson if you require any further
information on the contents of this report. The Officer can be contacted by e-mail
at dean.richardson@harrogate.gov.uk

Page 120

2

SANDBAG POLICY

Document Title

HBC Sandbag Policy

Signed Off
Version
Status
Author
Review Date
Location

Draft
HBC Emergency Planning Team
April 2023
Sharepoint Link

Page 121

Contents
i.

Document Control ...................................................................................................................... 1

ii.

Changes........................................................................................................................................ 1

1.

Terms of Reference ................................................................................................................... 2

2.

Background ................................................................................................................................. 2

3.

Sandbag Policy ........................................................................................................................... 2

4.

Providing sandbags .................................................................................................................. 3

5.

Mutual aid / Multi-Agency Support ........................................................................................ 4

6.

Sandbag Guidance .................................................................................................................... 5

7.

Alternative Flood Defence Products ..................................................................................... 5

8.

Disposal of sandbags ............................................................................................................... 5

i.

Document Control

Document
Title
Signed Off
Version
Status
Author
Review Date
Location

ii.

HBC Sandbag Policy

Draft
HBC Emergency Planning Team
April 2023
Sharepoint Link

Changes

Dated
April 22

Changes
Complete update of policy

Page 122

Initials
IKS/AD

Page 1 of 5

1. Terms of Reference
1.1 This policy has been produced to provide clear guidance on how Harrogate
Borough Council (HBC) prioritises the distribution of sandbags as a means of
protecting critical infrastructure and assisting residents. It clarifies what HBC will, and
will not do in relation to the provision of sandbags during flood events.

2. Background
2.1 Flooding is a natural occurrence and can occur during periods of prolonged
rainfall and during pluvial events. No drainage system or flood protection measure
can protect and eliminate the risk of flooding during extreme storm events. We have
developed a multi-Agency Flood Plan to identify and address some of those
identified Fluvial and Pluvial risks.
2.2 HBC have no legislative duty to provide sandbags to residential or commercial
premises to protect them from flooding The council has however developed a policy
where it will assist with the provision of sandbags on a prioritised basis
predominantly to support vulnerable and community groups.
2.3 Whilst the usefulness of sandbags is acknowledged in helping to divert and direct
flows, such as along a highway, it must be noted that they have severe limitations in
application when faced with prolonged periods of high flow or static water.
Additionally, sandbags are ineffective in protecting property from groundwater
flooding or indeed where sewers cause flooding within properties.
2.4 Sandbags at best only have a 40% chance of successfully keeping water out of a
property. With this in mind homeowners and businesses are encouraged to
implement their own flood resilient measures by purchasing specifically designed
flood protection products. HBC have worked in the past with residents who have
been impacted by flooding in accessing flood protection grant schemes as an when
they have been made available.
2.5 The non-profit charity, The National Flood Forum, provides advice on various
products to enable residents to implement ‘Property Level Protection’ which includes
a directory of products that have achieved BSI Kitemark status. Sandbags have not
achieved this accreditation yet remain a ‘fall back’ position for many residents.

3. Sandbag Policy
3.1 This Policy identifies the decision-making process of when sandbags are
deemed to be an appropriate method of flood defence. This will be a combination of
elderly/vulnerable residents, community group support, location, asset ownership
and severity of the flood event.
3.2 During times of inclement weather, HBC will make reasonable efforts to assist
residents at imminent risk of flooding, but this is subject to resources available at the
time of an event and the prioritisation of affected groups. No guarantee can be
offered to residents that we can assist with flood incidents. If residents are
concerned that they may be at risk of flooding, it is strongly recommended that they

Page 123

Page 2 of 5

consider implementing their own flood resilience measures in advance of a flood
event.
3.3 As a council we have worked closely with our communities and have established
several sandbag stores in key locations, in support of our Multi Agency Flood Plan
and in partnership with the local Community Emergency Committee. These
resources can be accessed by HBC staff for local deployment, but are generally
under the direction of the local Community Emergency Committee, who may allocate
or deploy sandbags in order to protect properties or life.

4. Providing sandbags
Sandbags will be provided on a prioritised basis subject to the following:
4.1 The living accommodation of the property is in immediate danger of flooding at
the time of the call. For this purpose, living accommodation refers to internal living
areas of domestic dwellings, but not gardens, outbuildings, sheds, garages, etc.
4.2 Elderly, and vulnerable residents shall be given priority; and steps taken to
distribute sandbags to them

4.3 We will not deliver sandbags to residents on the basis of the threat of rain or
flooding, for example if a severe weather warning is given or flood water is at the
bottom of the garden.
4.4 Whilst we will make every effort to, there is no guarantee that we will be able to
deliver sandbags to everyone in time to avoid flooding..
4.5 On delivery, it will be the judgement of the officer delivering the sandbags of how
many will be required. This will be based on how many sandbags are needed to
reasonably protect the property whilst ensuring the supply of sandbags is not unfairly
depleted for other residents.
4.6 We will not generally collect sandbags, whether in a used or unused condition,
following a flood event. It is the householders’ responsibility to dispose of sandbags
accordingly. Further disposal advice is given below.
4.7 We cannot accept any responsibility or liability for flooding, or any other related
damages, caused directly or indirectly as a result of the use or misuse of our
sandbags nor for any failure to deliver sandbags in advance of a flood. It is the
responsibility of the resident to ensure sandbags are best positioned in a timely
manner to prevent flooding.
4.8 Sandbags, if laid correctly, offer some protection against flood water entering a
property or can divert water away from more vulnerable parts of your home. They
can be effective when it is marginal as to whether water enters a house or not.
However, in relation to large volumes of water they are largely ineffective. Other
products are now available to buy commercially which offer a better standard of

Page 124

Page 3 of 5

protection. More information on such products can be found by visiting the National
Flood Forum Blue Pages website Opens in new tab.
4.9 Harrogate Borough Council WILL:
4.8.2 Elderly, and vulnerable residents shall be given priority; and steps taken
to distribute sandbags to them. Subject to availability sandbags will be
deployed at locations where there is an imminent risk to life or property. The
decision to deploy sandbags shall be taken at the discretion of responding
officers.
4.8.3 Collect sandbags from authority owned land and HBC managed public
open spaces and dispose of them in an appropriate manner.

4.10 Harrogate Borough Council WILL NOT:
4.10.1 Deploy sandbags to private properties in advance of a flood event;
4.10.2 Deploy sandbags to commercial properties at any time before, during or
after a flood event, unless deemed necessary under exceptional circumstances
to protect adjacent residential and/or essential infrastructure from flood
damage;
4.10.3 Collect sandbags from private land, residential properties (other than
when deployed by HBC to elderly or vulnerable residents), or commercial
premises; and,
4.10.4 Collect sandbags which have not been deployed by HBC.
4.11 Other use.
4.11.1 Sandbags may be released to deal with non-flood related issues on
Council-owned assets that may have safety, cost, or reputational implications.
An example of this may be using the sand from within the bags to deal with an
oil spill at an HBC car park.
4.11.2 We may also release sandbags to the military to support their response
to an incident outside of a multi-agency response. For example in 2020,
sandbags were requested by the Army for area protection during a controlled
demolition of a suspected WW2 hand grenade in Harrogate.

5. Mutual aid / Multi-Agency Support
We may release stock or deliver bags to our NYLRF partners during a multi-agency
response or as part of a Mutual Aid package to support their response during an
incident or other time of exceptional need. This may be during a declared major

Page 125

Page 4 of 5

incident, to protect life, or during a period of disruption that affects the organisation’s
normal ability to response such as a BC incident.

6. Sandbag Guidance
6.1 Guidance on how to use sandbags can be found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sandbags-how-to-use-them-to-preparefor-a-flood

7. Alternative Flood Defence Products
7.1 A directory of property flood products can be found here:
http://bluepages.org.uk

8. Disposal of sandbags
8.1 Unused dry sandbags are not regarded as waste and can be reused. Sandbags
will disintegrate with exposure to light or weather so they are not recommended for
use after a long period of time. If you are unable to store full sandbags, please empty
the dry bags and store the sand in a dry place or dig into your garden, keeping the
bags so that they can be re-filled. Do not place full sandbags or sand in your
household waste bin, although empty sandbags can be disposed of as normal.
8.2 When exposed to flood water, sandbags will have a tendency to absorb not only
water but also contaminants such as sewage and oils. Wear gloves and wash hands
thoroughly after handling used sand bags. Attempt to dry out sandbags as much as
possible to reduce the weight and make them easier to handle. You should double
wrap (e.g. with bin liners) exposed sandbags and dispose of them at your local
Household Waste and Recycling Centre. Please inform staff that they have been
contaminated with flood water.
8.3 You should not place full sandbags or the contaminated sand in the household
waste bin. Do not allow children to play with the contaminated sand and do not dig it
into your garden as this could present a health hazard.

Page 126

Page 5 of 5

Agenda Item 5

NOT FOR PUBLICATION: Appendices 2-3 of this report contain information
considered to be exempt under Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972 as amended

Agenda Item No

REPORT TO:

CABINET MEMBER (Housing & Safer Communities)

DATE:

2 August 2022

SERVICE AREA:

Housing and Property

REPORTING OFFICER:

Head of Housing and Property
(Gillian Wood, Housing Growth Manager)

SUBJECT:

DEVELOPMENT OF LAND AT 28 PANNAL GREEN,
HARROGATE

WARD/S AFFECTED:

Harrogate Pannal

FORWARD PLAN REF:

N/A

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To seek the necessary approval to make a planning application and progress a
council - owned site to development.

2.0

RECOMMENDATION/S
It is recommended that approval is granted for:

2.1

The submission of a planning application for 100% affordable housing on land
at 28 Pannal Green, Harrogate.

2.2

The submission of a bid to Homes England to seek grant towards development
of the site at 2.1.

3.0

RECOMMENDED REASON/S FOR DECISION/S

3.1

To deliver much needed affordable housing on an underutilised council-owned
site (the garden of 28 Pannal Green, Harrogate). To align approvals and
funding arrangements.

Page 127

1

4.0

ALTERNATIVE OPTION/S CONSIDERED AND RECOMMENDED FOR
REJECTION

4.1

Not to submit a planning application for development of the site at 2.1.The site
is currently an underutilised piece of garden land that the resident can no
longer maintain themselves and is thus maintained at council expense. There
is potential for it to provide a much needed, additional, affordable family home
into the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

5.0

THE REPORT

5.1

The approval of development of HRA sites by Cabinet Member (Housing and
Safer Communities) is long established. Most recently, in December 2021,
Cabinet Member approved a process to record due diligence and demonstrate
high-level viability in order to allow officers to progress to submission of planning
applications and make development proposals public.

5.2

As part of this process, Cabinet Member is asked to approve a ‘Gateway 1’
submission for this site.

5.3

A location plan for the site is attached at Appendix 1. Information provided at
Appendices 2 and 3 comprises a Gateway 1 form and a high-level viability
appraisal. In accordance with the approved process, Gateway 1 forms are
submitted to Cabinet Member prior to progression to Gateway 2, at which point
approval is sought for further expenditure to bring the site forward for
development.

5.4

Following pre-application discussion with Planning colleagues, this small HRA
site is considered suitable for development and approval is sought to progress
to planning application stage. Potential yield is for 1no. semi-detached/end
terraced 4 bed house (though house type/size may be subject to change
through the planning process). Demand for this house type/size is confirmed
following consultation with colleagues in Housing Allocations.

5.5

The submission of the planning application is dependent on the outcome of
intrusive surveys.

6.0

REQUIRED ASSESSMENTS AND IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The following were considered: Financial Implications; Human Resources
Implications; Legal Implications; ICT Implications; Strategic Property/Asset
Management Considerations; Risk Assessment; Equality and Diversity (the
Public Sector Equality Duty and impact upon people with protected
characteristics). If applicable, the outcomes of any consultations,
assessments, considerations and implications considered necessary during
preparation of this report are detailed below.
Strategic Property/Asset Management Considerations have been consulted on
the drafting of this report.

Page 128

2

6.2

Legal Implications
Legal Services have been consulted on this report.

6.3

Financial Implications
Finance have been consulted on this report. There is a budget included within
the Housing Improvement Programme (HIP) each year for house building. The
cost of the development detailed within this report will be met by this house
building budget, with any necessary amendments being made through the
quarterly monitoring reports and annual budget report. Any grant funding
secured will reduce the cost to the Council of developing this site. It should be
noted that the viability appraisal at Appendix 2 has been completed on the
basis that £50k of grant will be received.

7.0

CONCLUSIONS

7.1

Development of HRA sites for housing makes good use of the council’s
landholdings. There are c1800 households on its Waiting List for
social/affordable rented housing. This underutilised site will make a small but
important contribution to helping meet that need.

7.2

Subject to approval to progress and subject also to planning permission,
Housing Growth Officers will bid for Homes England grant to help fund the
development of the site subject of this report.

Page 129

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Dr

45
41

ain

Pa
th

47

55

t
ur
Co
e)
l
m
ta
o
s
H
y
Cr are
(C

62

58
56

R
G
AL
N
N
PA

52

38

N
EE

44
22

4

50

6
14

8

2

46

10
12

36
24

St Robert's
Church

85.8m

20 22
to

14

8

16

2

to

6

7

11

12

AR
CL 3

to
17 19

CL
K
C
6
BE
to
4
K

10

1

Pannal Hall

The Old Mistal

Pannal Bridge

rac

FB

ill
kh e
o
s
o
Br Hou

11

30

rg e
Be

Land Adjacent to 28 Pannal Green, Pannal
ASG 12/05/2022

Page 131

© Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 100019628

1:1,250

¯

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 133

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 145

This page is intentionally left blank

